








sources. In addition, it is more difficult to recruirr t and retain less experienced profesff sionals because the industry irr s less
attractive durd ing downturns from an income opportunity perspective.

If we lose the services of our exeee cutive offio cers orr r certain othett r members of our senior management team, we may not
be able tll o ett xeee cute our business strategy.tt

Our success depends in a large part upon the continued service of our senior management team, who are important
to our vision, strategic direction and culture. Our current long-term business strategy was developed in large part by our
senior-level management team, some of whom have recently retired or will be transitioning to new positions, and depends
in part on their skills and knowledge to implement. Our focus on new growth and investment initiatives may require
additional management expertise to successfulff ly execute our strategy. We may not be able to offsff et the impact on our
business of the loss of the services of our senior-level management team or other key offiff cers or employees or be able to
recruirr t additional or replacement talent, which could negatively impact our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Our business could be hurt if we are unable tll o rtt etaitt n oii ur busineii ss philosopho y ah nd culture of infon rmatiott n sharingii and
effoff rts ttt o rtt etaitt n oii ur philosophll y ah nd culture could adverserr ly affeff ct our ability to maintainii and grow our busineii ss.

Our policy of information sharing, matching properties with large pools of investors and the emphasis that we place
on our clients, our people and our culture define our business philosophy and differeff ntiates our services from that of our
competitors. Various factors could adversely affect this culture. If we do not continue to develop and implement the right
processes and tools to manage our changing enterprise and maintain this culture, our ability to compete successfulff ly and
achieve our business objectives could be impaired, which could negatively impact our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

The concentratiott n of so alesll among our top io nvii estment salesll and finff ancingii profesff sionals cll ould lead to losses if wi e are
unable tll o rtt etaitt n tii hett m or if ti hett re is an economic dowdd nturn.

Our most successfulff investment sales and financing professionals are responsible for a significant percentage of our
revenue. They also serve as mentors and role models, and provide invaluable training for younger professionals, which is
an integral part of our culture. This concentration among our top investment sales and financing professionals of real estate
brokerage commissions and finff ancing fees revenue can lead to greater and more concentrated risk of loss if we are unable
to retain them, and could have a material adverse impact on our business and financial condition. Furthermore, many of our
investment sales and financing professionals work in teams. If a team leader or manager leaves our Company, his or her
team members may leave with the team leader or manager. Additionally, in economic downturns sales are ofteff n furff ther
concentrated among our top investment sales and financing professionals who have negotiated high commission splits that
further reducd e our profitff s and could have a material adverse impact on our business and financial condition.

Our invii estment sales profeo ssionals all re independendd t contractors, not employeeso , as nd if laws, rs egulatll iott ns or rulinll gs
mandatdd e ttt hatt t thett y be ee mployeo es, os ur busineii ss would bll e adverserr ly impacted.

Our investment sales professionals are retained as independent contractors, and we are subju ect to the Internal
Revenue Service regulations and appla icable state law guidelines regarding independent contractor classification. These
regulations and guidelines are subju ect to judicial and agency interprrr etation, and it could be determined that the independent
contractor classification is inapplicable to some or all of our investment sales professionals. Further, if legal standards for
classification of these investment sales professionals as independent contractors change or appear to be changing, it may be
necessary to modify our compensation or commission strucrr ture for these investment sales professionals in some or all of
our markets, including paying additional compensation or reimbursing expenses. If we are forced to classify these
investment sales professionals as employees, we would also become subject to laws regarding employee classification and
compensation, and to claims regarding overtime, minimum wage, and meal and rest periods. We could also incur
subsu tantial costs, penalties and damages duedd to future challenges by current or former investment sales professionals to our
classification or compensation practices. Any of these outcomes could result in substantial costs to us, could significantly
impair our financial condition and our ability to conduct our business as we choose, and could damage our reputation and
impair our ability to attract clients and investment sales and financing professionals.

24



Fraud, or theft,ff which is dii ifdd fiff cult to detect and deterdd , cr ould harm us by impairiii ngii our ability toii attrtt act and retain cliell nts
and subjeb ctintt g us to stt ignigg fii cant legale liabilityii and reputattt iott nal harm.rr

If our employees or investment sales and financing professionals engage in misconduct, our business could be
adversely affected. It is not always possible to deter misconduct, and the precautions we take to deter and prevent this
activity may not be effeff ctive in all cases. If our employees or investment sales and financing professionals were to engage
in unethical business practices, improperly use, disseminate, faiff l to disseminate or disclose information provided by our
clients, we could be subject to regulatory srr anctions, suffeff r serious harm to our reputation, financial position and current
client relationships and significantly impair our ability to attract future clients. These events could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations. To the extent any fraff ud or theft off f funds orff misconduct result in
losses that exceeds our insurance coverage, our business could be materially adversely affected.

Internal Business Risks

We may fa aiff l tii o stt uccessfulff lyll diffei rentiatett our brand from those of oo ur competitott rs, which could adverserr ly affeff ct our
revenue.

The value of our brand and reputation is one of our most important assets. An inherent risk in maintaining our brand
is we may faiff l to successfulff ly differentiate the scope and quality of our service and product offerings from those of our
competitors, or we may fail to sufficiently innovate or develop improved products or services that will be attractive to our
clients. Additionally, given the rigors of the competitive marketplace in which we operate, there is the risk we may not be
able to continue to find ways to operate more productively and more cost-effectively, including by achieving economies of
scale, or we will be limited in our ability to further reducd e the costs required to operate on a nationally coordinated
platform.

Our attempts to expanxx d our services and businesses may not be successfulff and we may expexx nd signi ificant resources
withii out correspondingii returns.

We intend to expand our specialty groups, particularly multi-tenant retail, offiff ce, industrial and hospitality, as well
as various niche markets, including multifamff ily tax credit, affordff able housing, student houst ing, manufactff urtt ed housing,
seniors housing and self-sff torage. We also plan to grow our financing services provided through our subsu idiary, Marcus &
Millichap Ca apital Corporation. We expect to incur expenses relating to acquisitions, recruirr tment, training, and expanding
our markets and services. The planned expansion of services and platforff ms requires significant resources, and there can be
no assurance we will compete effectively, attract or train a sufficieff nt number of professionals to supporu t the expansion, or
operate these businesses profitably.a We may incur significant expenses for these plans without corresponding returns,
which would harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we expexx rience signi ificant growth in ttt hett future, se uch growth mtt ay be diffii cult to sustaitt n aii nd may pa lace signi ificff ant
demands odd n our administrativtt e, operational and financii ial resources.

If we experience significant growth in the future, such growth could place additional demands on our resources and
increase our expenses, as we will have to commit additional management, operational and financial resources to maintain
appropriate operational and financial systems to adequately supporu t expansion. There can be no assurance we will be able
to manage our expanding operations effeff ctively or we will be abla e to maintain or accelerate our growth, and any faiff lure to
do so could adversely affect our ability to generate revenue and control our expenses, which could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations. Moreover, we may have to delay, alter or eliminate the
implementation of certain aspects of our growth strategy due to events beyond our control, including, but not limited to,
changes in general economic conditions and commercial real estate market conditions. Such delays or changes to our
growth strategy may adversely affect our business.

Our growth ptt lan incii ludes completll intt g acquisiii tioii ns, ws hich may oa r may not happen dependd dingii on the acquisiii tionii
opportunitieii s thatt t are availaii ble ill n tii hett marketpltt acll e.

Our abia lity to grow by acquiring companies or assets and by making investments to complement our existing
businesses will depend upon the availabia lity of suitabla e acquisition candidates. If we are unable to finff d suitabla e acquisition
candidates, if we are unable to attract the interest of such candidates, or if we are unable to successfulff ly negotiate and
complete such acquisitions, that could limit our ability to grow.
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If we acquire businesses in tii hett future, we e may expexx rience highi transactiott n and integrate iott n costs, ts hett integre atiott n process
may be da isdd ruptu ivtt e to ott ur busineii ss and thett acquired busineii sses may not perfor rm as we expexx ct.

From time to time, we pursue strategic acquisitions to add and enhance our real estate brokerage and finff ancing
service offerings. The companies we have acquired have generally been regional or specialty firms that expand our network
of investing and financing professionals and/or provide further diversification to our brokerage and finff ancing services. Our
acquisition strucrr tures may include deferred and/or contingent consideration payments in futurff e periods that are subject to
the passage of time or achievement of certain financial performance metrics and other conditions. Acquisitions also
frequently involve significant costs related to integrating culture, information technology, accounting, reporting and
management services and rationalizing personnel levels. If we are unable to fulff ly integrate the culture, accounting,
reporting and other systems of the businesses we acquire, we may not be able to effeff ctively manage them, and our financial
results may be materially adversely affected.

In addition, the acquisitions of businesses involve risks that the businesses acquired will not perform in accordance
with expectations, that the expected synergies associated with acquisitions will not be achieved, that we will experience
attrition froff m professionals licensed or associated with the acquired companies and that business judgments concerning the
value, strengths and weaknesses of the businesses acquired will prove incorrect, which could have an adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

A majority of our revenue is derived from transactiott n feesff , ws hich are not long-tgg ertt m crr ontracted sources of recurringii
revenue and are subject to external economic conditdd iott ns and decldd inll es in those engagements ctt ould have a matertt ial
adverserr effeff ct on our finff anciali conditiodd n and results of operations.

We historically have earned principally all our revenue from real estate brokerage transactions and finff ancing fees.
We expect that we will continue to rely heavily on revenue from these sources for substantially all our revenue for the
foreseeable future. A continued decline in the number of transactions completed or in the value of the commercial real
estate we sell could significantly decrease our revenue further, which would adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

If we are unable tll o rtt etaitt n eii xiee stii intt g clients att nd developll new clients, os ur financii ial conditioii n may be adverserr ly affeff cted.tt

We are substantially dependent on long-term client relationships and on revenue received forff services provided forff
them. Our listing agreements generally expire within six months and depend on the cooperation of the client during the
pendency of the agreement, as is typical in the industry.rr In this competitive market, if we are unable to maintain these
relationships or are otherwise unable to retain existing clients and develop new clients, our business, results of operations
and/or financial condition may be materially adversely affected. Historically, a global economic downturn and weaknesses
in the markets in which our clients and potential clients compete have led to a lower volume of transactions and fewerff real
estate clients generally, which makes it more diffiff cult to maintain existing and establa ish new client relationships. These
effeff cts have in the past and could increase again in the wake of the continuing political and economic uncertainties in the
U.S. and in other countries.

We may fa acff e signigg fii cant liabii litieii s and/odd r damagedd to our profeo ssional repuee tation as a result of litigatiott n allegate iott ns and
negate ivtt e publicity.

As a licensed real estate broker, we and our licensed professionals and brokers are subject to regulatory drr ued
diligence, disclosure and standard-of-care obligations. The actuat l or perceived faiff lure to fulfill these obligations could
subju ect us or our profesff sionals and brokers to litigation froff m parties who attempted to or in factff financed, purchased or sold
properties that we or they brokered, managed or had some other involvement. We could become subju ect to claims by those
who either wished to participate or did participate in real estate transactions alleging that we did not fulfill our regulatory,
contractuatt l or other legal obligations. We also faceff potential conflictsff of interest claims when we represent both the buyer
and the seller in a transaction.

We depend on our business relationships and our reputation forff integrity and high-caliber profesff sional services to
attract and retain clients. As a result, allegations by private litigants or regulators, whether the ultimate outcome is
favorable or unfavff orable to us, as well as negative publicity and press speculation about us or oura investment activities,
whether or not valid, may harm our reputation and damage our business prospects. In addition, if any lawsuits were
brought against us and resulted in a finff ding of subsu tantial legal liabia lity, it could materially, adversely affect our business,
financial condition or results of operations or cause significant reputational harm to us, which could materially impact our
business.
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In the event of a substantial loss, our commercial insurance coverage and/or self-iff nsurance reserve levels might not
be sufficient to pay the fulff l damages, or the scope of availabla e coverage may not cover certain types of claims. Further, the
value of otherwise valid claims we hold under insurance policies could become uncollectible in the event of the covering
insurance company’s insolvency, although we seek to limit this risk by placing our commercial insurance only with highly-
rated companies. Any of these events could negatively impact our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Failure to appropriately deal withii actual or perceived confln ictsll of interest could all dverserr ly affeff ct our businesses.

Outside of our employees and investment sales and financing professionals, our reputation is one of our most
important assets. As we have expanded the scope of our services, we increasingly must address potential, actuat l or
perceived confliff cts of interest relating to the services we provide to our existing and potential clients. For example,
conflicts maff y arise between our position as an advisor to both the buyer and seller in commercial real estate sales
transactions or in instances when a potential buyer requests that we represent them in securing the necessary capital to
acquire an asset we are selling for another client, or when a capital source takes an adverse action against an owner client
that we are advising in another matter. From time to time, we also advise or represent entities and parties affiliated with us
in commercial real estate transactions which also involve clients who are unaffiliated with us. In this context, we may be
subju ect to complaints or claims of a conflicff t of interest. Appropriately dealing with conflictsff of interest is complex and
difficult and our reputation could be damaged and cause us to lose existing clients or faiff l to gain new clients if we faiff l, or
appear to fail, to deal appropra iately with conflicff ts of interest, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Technology and Cybersecurity Risks

If we do not respos nd to technologio cal innii ovatiott ns or changes or upgrade ouu r techtt nologyo systemtt s, our growth ptt rospects
and resultsll of operations could be adverserr ly affeff cted.

To remain competitive, we must continue to enhance and improve the functionality, featff urtt es and security of our
technology infrastructurt e. Infrastructurt e upgru ades may require significant capital investment outside of the normal course
of business. In the futurff e, we will likely need to improve and upgru ade our technology, databaa se systems and network
infrastructurt e to allow our business to grow in both size and scope. Without such improvements, our operations might
suffer froff m unanticipated system disruptrr ions, slow performance or unreliabla e service levels, any of which could negatively
affeff ct our ability to provide rapia d customer service. We may facff e significant delays in introducing new services, investment
sales professional tools and enhancements. Moreover, if we do not keep pace with the rapid innovations and changes taking
place in information technology in our industry,rr we could be at a competitive disadvantage. The proliferatff ion of freff ely
availabla e information on the Internet, including advancements in areas such as artificial intelligence, for example, has
subsu tantially increased the accessibility and transparency of information relating to commercial real estate listings and
transactions, which could change the way commercial real estate transactions are conducted. This has occurred to some
extent in the residential real estate market as online brokerage and/or auction companies have eroded part of the market for
traditional residential real estate brokerage firms. The accumulation of large amounts of data on the Internet could also
devalue the information that we gather and disseminate as part of our business model and may harm certain aspects of our
investment brokerage business in the event that principals of transactions prefer to transact directly with each other.
Further, the rapid dissemination and increasing transparency of information, particularly for public companies, increases
the risks to our business that could result froff m negative media or announcements about ethics lapsa es, improper behavior or
other operational problems, which could lead clients to terminate or reduce their relationships with us. If competitors
introduce new products and services using new technologies, our proprietary technology and systems may become less
competitive, and our business may be harmed. In addition, the expansion and improvement of our systems and
infrastructurt e may require us to commit subsu tantial finff ancial, operational and technical resources, with no assurance that
our business will improve.

Interruptu iott n, data stt ecurity btt reaches, or failure of our infii orff marr tion techtt nologyo , cyy ommunications systemtt s or datdd a stt ervices
could hll urt our abilitii y ttt o ett ffee ctivtt ely pll rovide our services, which could damage our reputattt iott n and harm our opeo rating
results.

Our business requires the continued operation of information technology and communication systems and network
infrastructurt e. Our abia lity to conduct our business may be adversely impacted by disruptrr ions or breaches to these systems
or infrastructurt e. Our information technology and communications systems are vulnerabla e to damage or disruptu ion fromff
fire, power loss, telecommunications failure, system malfunctions, computer viruses, third-party misconduct or penetration
and criminal acts, naturt al disasters such as hurricanes, earthquakes, wildfires and floods, acts of war or terrorism, or other
events which are beyond our control. For example, in August 2021, we were subju ect to a cybersecurity attack on our
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information technology systems. We immediately engaged cybersecurity experts to secure and restore all essential systems
and were abla e to do so with only minimal disruptu ion to our business.

In addition, the operation and maintenance of these systems and networks is, in some cases, dependent on third-party
technologies, systems and service providers for which there is no certainty of security or uninterruptu ed availabia lity. Any of
these events could cause system interruptu ion, delays, and loss of critical data or intellectuat l property (such as our client lists
and information, business methods and research) and may also disrupt ouru ability to provide services to or interact with our
clients, and we may not be able to successfulff ly implement contingency plans that depend on communication or travel. The
business continuity planning and backupkk systems we have in place for such events may not be sufficient and cannot
account for all eventualities. An event that results in the destrucrr tion or disruptu ion of any of our data centers or our critical
business or information technology systems could severely affect our ability to conduct normal business operations and, as
a result, our future operating results could be adversely affected. Our business relies significantly on the use of commercial
real estate data. We produce much of this data internally, but a significant portion is purchased from third-party providers
forff which there is no certainty of uninterruptu ed availabia lity. A disruptu ion of our ability to provide data to our profesff sionals
and/or clients could damage our reputation, and our operating results could be adversely affected.

Failure to maintain the security ott f oo ur infon rmatiott n and technologyo networks, is ncii ludingii personally idendd tifiable all nd
cliell nt infon rmatiott n could adverserr ly affeff ct us.

Security breaches and other disruptu ions could compromise our and our clients' information and expose us to liabia lity,
which could cause our business and reputation to suffer.ff In the ordinary crr ourse of our business, we collect and store
sensitive data, including our proprietary business inforff mation and intellectuat l property and that of our clients and
personally identifiable information of our employees and contractors, in our data centers and on our networks. The secure
processing, maintenance and transmission of this information is critical to our operations. Our security measures vary in
maturity across our business. Our information technology and infraff structurt e have been subju ect to, and may in the future be
vulnerabla e to various cyber-attacks, such as hacking, spoofinff g and phishing attacks and ransomware attacks, exploitation of
system or application vulnerabia lities or our systems may be breached due to employee error, malfeasanceff or other
disruptrr ions. We may also not have sufficient logging availabla e to fulff ly investigate the scope of a cyber-attack.

Additionally, since 2020, a portion of our workforce has worked remotely in some capacity in response to the
COVID-19 pandemic. This arrangement introduces new threat vectors and vulnerabia lities.

A significant actual or potential theft, loss, fraudulent use or misuse of client, employee or other personally
identifiabla e data, whether by third parties or as a result of employee malfeasance or otherwise, non-compliance with our
contractuatt l or other legal obligations regarding such data or a violation of our privacy and security policies with respect to
such data could result in significant costs, finff es, litigation or regulatory arr ctions against us. Such an event could additionally
disrupt our operr rations and the services we provide to clients, damage our reputation, and cause a loss of confidff ence in our
services, which could adversely affect our business, revenue and competitive position.

Additionally, we increasingly rely on third-party data storage providers, including cloud storage solution providers,
resulting in less direct control over our data. Such third parties may also be vulnerabla e to security breaches and
compromised security systems, which could adversely affect our reputation. In the past several years, supplu y chain attacks
have increased in frequency and severity. As we are a consumer of information systems and technology, we are at risk of
being impacted either directly or indirectly by these attacks. The control systems, cybersecurity program, infraff structure,
physical facilities of, and personnel associated with third parties that we rely on are beyond our control.

We rely on the collection and use of personally identifiaff bla e inforff mation froff m clients to conduct our business. We
disclose our information collection and dissemination practices in a published privacy statement on our websites, which we
may modify from time to time. We may be subject to legal claims, government action, including under the Racketeer
Influenced and Corruptu Organizations Act, and damage to our reputation if we act or are perceived to be acting
inconsistently with the terms of our privacy statement, client expectations or the law. In the event we or the vendors with
which we contract to provide services on behalf of our clients were to suffeff r a breach of personally identifiablea
information, our customers could terminate their business with us. Further, we may be subject to claims to the extent
individual employees or investment sales and financing professionals breach or fail to adhere to Company policies and
practices and such actions jeopardize any personally identifiaff bla e information. In addition, concern among potential buyers
or sellers about our privacy practices could keep them from using our services or require us to incur significant expense to
alter our business practices or educd ate them about howa we use personally identifiabla e information.
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Investment Risks

Our invii estments itt n mii arketable dll ebdd t securitieii s, availaii ble-ll fo- r-sale are subjeb ct to certain risks wkk hich could all ffea ct our
overall fll inff anciali conditdd iott n, results ott f oo peo rations or cash flowll s.

We invest a portion of our availabla e cash and cash equivalent balances in money market fundsff , some of which have
floating net asset values or by purchasing marketabla e debt securities with maturities in excess of three months in a managed
portfolff io in a variety of fixed or variabla e rate debt securities, including U.S. government and federal agencyff securities and
corporate debt securities. The primary objective of our investment activity is to maintain the safety of principal, provide for
future liquidity requirements while maximizing yields without significantly increasing risk. Should any of our investments
or marketable debt securities lose value or have their liquidity impaired, it could affect our overall financial condition.
Additionally, if we choose or are required to sell these securities in the future at a loss, our consolidated operating results or
cash floff ws may be affected.

We may ba e deedd med to be an invii estment company dn ue to our invii estments itt n mii arketable dll ebdd t securitieii s, availaii ble-ll for- -srr ale
and, if such a detdd ertt mirr naii tion were made, we e would become subject to signi ificant regulatll iott n thatt t would adverserr ly affeff ct
our business.

We may be deemed to be an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the
"Investment Company Act"), if, among other things, we own “investment securities” with a value exceeding 40% of the
value of our total assets, unless we qualify uff nder a particular exemption or safe hff arborr . We invest part of our availabla e cash
and cash equivalents in a variety of short-term, investment-grade securities, some of which may qualify aff s “investment
securities” under the Investment Company Act. Investment companies are subju ect to registration under the Investment
Company Act and compliance with a variety of restrictions and requirements. If we were to be deemed an investment
company we would become subju ect to these restrictions and requirements, and the consequences of having been an
investment company without registering under the Investment Company Act could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations, as well as restrict our ability to sell and issue securities, borrow
fundsff , engage in various transactions or other activities and make certain investment decisions. In addition, we may incur
significant costs or limitation on business opportunities to avoid investment company status if an exemption froff m the
Investment Company Act were to be considered unavailable to us at a time when the value of our “investment securities”
exceeds 40% of the value of our total assets. We believe that we satisfy the conditions to be exempt from the Investment
Company Act because, among other things, we are engaged directly and primarily in a business other than that of
investing, reinvesting, owning, holding or trading in securities. However, absent an exemptive order from the SEC, our
status of bett ing exempt cannot be assured.

Risks Related to Our Founder

Our ChaCC ir and fouff nderdd owns a signigg fii cant portion of our common stock, wk hich may pa revent other stockholdett rs from
infln uencing signigg fii cant decisiii ons, and thett sale of such stoctt k may depress thett price of oo ur common stock and impii air oii ur
ability toii raise capitaii l.

George M. Marcus, our Chair and founder beneficiallff y owns approxia mately 15.0 million shares, or approximately
39% of our outstanding common stock as of December 31, 2023. Because of Mr. Marcus’ subsu tantial ownership of our
outstanding common stock, he may be able to significantly influence the outcome of corporate actions requiring
stockholder approvaa l, including the election and removal of directors, so long as he controls a significant portion of our
common stock. Mr. Marcus’ shares may also be sold in a public or private sale which could adversely affect the prevailing
market price of our common stock and could impair our ability to raise capital through the futurff e sales of equity securities.

Our ChaCC ir may ha ave actual or potentt tiali conflicff ts of interest because of ho is position with MMC.

George M. Marcus serves as the Chair of our Board of Directors and is Chair of the Board of Directors of MMC. In
addition, Mr. Marcus beneficiaff lly owns subsu tantially all of the outstanding stock of MMC. His position at MMC and the
ownership of any MMC equity or equity awards creates or may create the appearance of conflictsff of interest if and when he
is faced with decisions that could have differeff nt implications for MMC and for us.ff
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General Risks

Our exiee stii intt g goodwill and other intangible assets could bll ecome impii aireii d, which may require us to ttt akett non-cash
charges.

Under current accounting guidelines, we evaluate our goodwill and other intangible assets for potential impairment
annually or more frequently if circumstances indicate impairment may have occurred. We perform the required annual
goodwill impairment evaluation in the fourth quarter of each year. Any impairment of goodwill or other intangible assets
would result in a non-cash charge against earnings, and such charge could materially adversely affect our reported results
of operations and the market price of our common stock in future periods.

In preparing our financii ial statements wtt e make certain assumptions, js udgmdd ents, as nd estimates thatt t affea ct amounts
reporee ted in oii ur consolidll atdd edtt financii ial statements,tt which, if not accurate, me ay signi ificantly impact our financii ial results.ll

We make assumptions, judgments, and estimates that affect amounts reported in our consolidated financial
statements. These assumptions, judgments, and estimates are drawn from historical experience and various other facff tors
that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances as of the date of the consolidated financial statements. Actual
results could diffeff r materially from our estimates, and such differeff nces could significantly impact our financial results.

The price of our common stock may fa luff ctuate signi ificff antly, ayy nd you could lose all oll r part of yo our invii estment.

Volatility in the market price of our common stock may prevent shareholders from being able to sell shares of our
common stock at or above the price shareholders paid for them. The market price for our common stock could fluff ctuat te
significantly for various reasons, including quarterly and annual variations in our results and those of our competitors;
changes to the competitive landscapea ; estimates and projections by the investment community; the arrival or departure of
key personnel, especially the retirement or departure of key senior investment sales and financing professionals and
management; the introduction of new services by us or our competitors; acquisitions, strategic alliances or joint ventures
involving us or our competitors; and general global and domestic economic, credit and liquidity issues, market or political
conditions.

As a result of these factors, investors in our common stock may not be able to resell their shares at or abovea the price
paid to acquire the stock or may not be able to resell them at all. These broad market and industry frr actff ors may materially
reduce the market price of our common stock, regardless of our operating performance. In addition, price volatility may be
greater if the public float and trading volume of our common stock is low.

If securitieii s analysts dtt o ndd ot publisll h research or reports about our busineii ss or if they downgrade our CompanCC y on r our
sectortt , orr r we do ndd ot meet expexx ctattt iott ns of the analysts ttt hett price of oo ur common stock could dll ecldd inll e.

The trading market for our common stock depends in part on the research and reports that industry orr r finff ancial
analysts publish about us or our busa iness. These research reports about our business may contain information about us,a
including, but not limited to estimates of our future results of operations and stock price. We do not control these analysts,
nor can we assure that any analysts will continue to follow us, issue research reports or publish information that accurately
predicts our actuatt l results or stock price. Furthermore, if we do not meet the expectations of industry orr r finff ancial analysts
or one or more of the analysts who do cover us downgrades our Company or our industry, orrr the stock of any of our
competitors, the price of our common stock could decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases coverage of our
Company, we could lose visibility in the market, which in turt n could cause the price of our common stock to decline.

Signi ificant fluff ctuations in oii ur revenue and net income may ma ake it diffii cult for us to att chieve steatt dy earnings growth
on a quartertt ly or an annual basis, ws hich may ma ake the comparison between periods diffii cult and may cause thett price of
our common stock to declinll e.

We have experienced and may continue to experience fluctuations in revenue and net income as a result of many
factors, including, but not limited to, economic conditions, capital market disruptrr ions, the timing of transactions, revenue
mix and the timing of additional selling, general and administrative expenses to supporu t growth initiatives, recognition and
expensing of forff givable loans provided to investment sales and financing professionals. We provide many of our services
pursuant to contracts that typically expire within six months and that are dependent on the client’s cooperation.
Consequently, many of our clients can terminate or significantly reduce their relationships with us on very short notice forff
any reason. In addition, a significant portion of our expenses are fixff ed and do not vary proportionately with fluctuations in
revenues. If our clients terminate or significantly reduce their relationships with us on short notice forff any reason, we may
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be unable to adjust our expenses in a timely manner which could have an immediate material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operation.

We plan our capia tal and operating expenditures based on our expectations of future revenue and, if revenues are
below expectations in any given quarter or year, we may be unable to adjust capital or operating expenditures in a timely
manner to compensate forff any unexpected revenue shortfalff l, which could have an immediate material adverse effecff t on our
business, financial condition and results of operation.

Future sales or the perceptee iott n of fo uturff e salesll of a substantt tial amoui nt of our common stock may da epdd ress the price of
shares of our common stock.

Future sales, issuances of shares under our Amended and Restated 2013 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan, as amended
(the "2013 Plan"), and 2013 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP") or the availabia lity of a substantial amount of our
common stock in the public market could adversely affect the prevailing market price of our common stock and could
impair our ability to raise capital through the futff urt e sales of equity securities.

We may issue shares of our common stock or other securities from time to time as consideration forff future
acquisitions and investments. If any such acquisition or investment is significant, the number of shares of our common
stock, or the number or aggregate principal amount, as the case may be, of other securities that we may issue may in turn be
subsu tantial. We may also grant registration rights covering those shares of our common stock or other securities in
connection with any such acquisitions and investments.

We cannot predict the size of future issuances or sales of our common stock or the effect, if any, that future
issuances and sales of our common stock will have on the market price of our common stock. Sales of subsu tantial amounts
of our common stock (including shares of our common stock issued in connection with an acquisition), or the perception
that such sales could occur, may adversely affect prevailing market prices for our common stock.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not appla icable.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy

We recognize the importance of assessing, identifying, and managing material risks associated with cybersecurity
threats, as such term is defined in Item 106(a) of Regulation S-K. These risks include, among other things, operational
risks; intellectuat l property theft; fraff ud; extortion; harm to employees or customers; violation of privacy or security laws
and other litigation and legal risk; and reputational risks. We have implemented several cybersecurity processes,
technologies, and controls to aid in our effortff s to assess, identify,ff and manage such material risks.

Our process forff identifyingff and assessing material risks froff m cybersecurity threats operates alongside our broader
overall risk assessment process, covering all company risks. As part of this process, appropriate disclosure personnel
collabora ate with subject matter specialists, as necessary, to gather insights forff identifyingff and assessing material
cybersecurity threat risks, their severity, and potential mitigations.

We also have a cybersecurity specific risk assessment process, which helps identify off ur cybersecurity threat risks.
As part of this process, and our processes to provide for the availabia lity of critical data and systems, maintain regulatory
compliance, identify aff nd manage our risks froff m cybersecurity threats, and to protect against, detect, and respond to
cybersecurity incidents, as such term is defined in Item 106(a) of Regulation S-K, we undertake the below listed activities,
among others:

• periodic comparison of our processes to standards set by the National Institute of Standards and Technology;
• closely monitor emerging data protection laws and implement changes to our processes designed to comply;
• undertake an annual review of our consumer-facing policies and statements related to cybersecurity;
• conduct regular phishing email simulations for all employees and all contractors with access to corporate email

systems to enhance awareness and responsiveness to such possible threats;
• conduct annual cybersecurity training for all employees and contractors, along with targeted training on a

quarterly basis forff specific subsets of employees identified through our phishing simulations;
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• through policy, practice and contract (as appla icable) require employees, as well as third-parties who provide
services on our behalf, to tff reat customer information and data with care;

• conduct regular network and endpoint monitoring and vulnerabia lity assessments to improve our information
systems, as such term is defined in Item 106(a) of Regulation S-K;

• carry information security risk insurance that provides protection against the potential losses arising from a
cybersecurity incident;

• conduct vulnerabia lity scans and leverage the scan results to continuously patch and manage our network as new
threats emerge; and

• active monitoring by our contracted 24x7 Security Operations Center.

Our incident response plan coordinates the activities we take to prepare forff , detect, respond to and recover fromff
cybersecurity incidents, which include processes to triage, assess severity for, escalate, contain, investigate, and remediate
the incident, as well as to comply with potentially appla icable legal obligations and mitigate brand and reputational damage.
The incident response team assesses the severity and priority of incidents on a rolling basis, with escalations of higher
severity cybersecurity incidents provided to our management team. If a cybersecurity incident is determined to be a
material cybersecurity incident, our incident response processes define the steps to disclose such a material cybersecurity
incident.

As part of the above proca esses, we regularly engage with assessors, consultants, auditors, and other third parties,
including by regularly conducting technical and data reviews with our cybersecurity partners to help identify aff reas for
continued focusff , improvement and/or compliance.

Our processes also address cybersecurity threat risks associated with our use of third-party service providers,
including those in our supplu y chain or who have access to our customer and employee data or our systems. Third-party
risks are included within our broader overall risk assessment process, as well as our cybersecurity-specific risk
identification program, both of which are discussed abovea . In addition, cybersecurity considerations affeff ct the selection and
oversight of our third-party service providers. We perform diligence on third parties that have access to our systems, data
or facilities that house such systems or data, and continually monitor cybersecurity threat risks identified through such
diligence. Additionally, we generally require those third parties that could introduce significant cybersecurity risk to us to
agree by contract to manage their cybersecurity risks in specified ways, and to agree to be subject to cybersecurity audits,
which we conduct as appropra iate.

We describe whether and how risks froff m identifieff d cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any previous
cybersecurity incidents, have materially affeff cted or are reasonabla y likely to materially affeff ct us, including our business
strategy, results of operations, or finff ancial condition, under the heading “Technology and Cybersecurity Risks”, which
disclosure is incorporated by reference herein.

Cybersecurity Governance

Cybersecurity is an important part of our risk management processes and an area of increasing focusff for our Board
and management.

Our audit committee is responsible for the oversight of risks froff m cybersecurity threats. At least quarterly, the audit
committee receives an overview froff m management of our cybersecurity threat risk management and strategy processes
covering topics such as data security posture, results from third-party assessments, progress towards pre-determined risk-
mitigation-related goals, our incident response plan, and material cybersecurity threat risks or incidents and developments,
as well as the steps management has taken to respond to such risks. In such sessions, the audit committee generally receives
materials indicating current and emerging material cybersecurity threat risks, and describing the company’s abia lity to
mitigate those risks, and discusses such matters with our Chief Information Officer. Members of the audit committee are
also encouraged to regularly engage in ad hoc conversations with management on cybersecurity-related news events and
discuss any updates to our cybersecurity risk management and strategy programs. Material cybersecurity threat risks are
also considered during separate Board meeting discussions of important matters like risk management, operational
budgeting, business continuity planning, mergers and acquisitions, brand management, and other relevant matters.

Our cybersecurity risk management and strategy processes, which are discussed in greater detail above, are led by
our Chief Information Offiff cer. This individual has over 30 years of work experience in various technology roles involving
managing information security, developing cybersecurity strategy, implementing effective information and cybersecurity
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programs. This experience has included positions at large public companies. Our CIO also holds a degree in electrical
engineering.

The firm’ff s senior executive team, inclusive of the CEO, CFO, COOs, CAO and Legal, are informed about and
monitor the prevention, mitigation, detection, and remediation of cybersecurity incidents through their management of, and
participation in, the cybersecurity risk management and strategy processes described above, including the operation of our
incident response plan.

As discussed abovea , these members of management report to the audit committee abouta cybersecurity threat risks,
among other cybersecurity related matters.

Item 2. Properties

Our principal executive offices are located at 23975 Park Sorrento, Suite 400, Calabaa sas, Californiff a 91302 where
our telephone number is (818) 212-2250. We lease all of our brokerage offiff ces (typically less than 12,000 square feet) and
other support faciff lities in the United States and Canada. We believe that our current facilities are adequate to meet our
needs through the end of 2024; however, as we continue to evaluate our offiff ce footprint, our lease needs could change
during the year.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are involved in claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of our business, some of which involve
claims for damages that are subsu tantial in amount. Most of these litigation matters are covered by our insurance policies,
which contain deducd tibles, exclusions, claim limits, and aggregate policy limits. Such litigation and other proceedings may
include, but are not limited to, actions relating to commercial relationships, standard brokerage disputes such as the alleged
failure to disclose physical or environmental defectff s or property expenses or contracts, the alleged inadequate disclosure of
matters relating to the transaction such as the relationships among the parties to the transaction, potential claims or losses
pertaining to the asset, vicarious liabia lity based uponu conduct of individuals or entities outside of our control, general fraff ud
claims, conflictsff of interest claims, employment law claims, including claims challenging the classification of our sales
profesff sionals as independent contractors, claims alleging violations of state consumer fraud statutt es, and intellectualt
property. While the ultimate liabia lity for these legal proceeding cannot be determined, we review the need for an accrualrr
for loss contingencies quarterly, and record an accruarr l forff litigation related losses where the likelihood of loss is both
probable and estimabla e. We do not believe, based on information currently availabla e to us, that the finff al outcome of these
proceedings will have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash floff ws.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not appla icable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market forff Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Market Information

Our common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “MMI”.

As of February 13, 2024, there were 66 stockholders of record, and the closing price of our common stock was
$37.30 per share as reported on the NYSE.

Dividends

On February 9, 2023, the Board of Directors declared a semi-annual regular dividend of $0.25 per share, with a
payment date of April 6, 2023, to stockholders of record at the close of business on March 14, 2023. On August 1, 2023,
the Board of Directors declared the second semi-annual regular dividend with a payment date of October 6, 2023, to
stockholders of record at the close of business on September 15, 2023. The total dividend declared by the Company during
the year ended December 31, 2023 was $20.4 million. As of December 31, 2023, $2.5 million remains to be paid upon
vesting of stock awards.

On February 8, 2rr 024, the Board of Directors declared a semi-annual regular dividend of $0.25 per share, payable on
April 5, 2024, to stockholders of record at the close of business on March 12, 2024. Based on the estimated number of
shares to be outstanding as of March 12, 2024, the dividends declared are estimated to aggregate $10.1 million, including
dividend equivalents totaling $0.4 million related to unvested restricted stock units granted under the 2013 Plan. These
dividend equivalents will be paid when the underlying restricted stock units vest. We currently expect to continue to
declare semi-annual regular dividends; however, the declaration and amount of any futurff e cash dividends will be subju ect to
the sole discretion of the Board of Directors and will depend upon many factors, including our business, financial condition
and results of operations and other factors deemed relevant by our Board of Directors froff m time to time.

Stock Perforff mance Graph

The perfor rmance grag pha shall not be deemed “filff ed” for purposff es of Section 18 of to het Exchange Act, or otherwise
subject to the liabilities under that Sett ction and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by refee rence into any filing of
Marcus & MilliMM chap, Inc. under the Set curities Act of 1933, as amended (th(( e “Securities Act”), or thet Exchange Act.

The folff lowing graph shows a comparison from December 31, 2018 through December 31, 2023 of the cumulative
total returt n for ourff common stock, the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Index (“S&P 500 Index”) and an industry prr eer group
for this period.

The grapha assumes that $100 was invested at the market close on December 31, 2018 in the common stock of
Marcus & Millichap Inc., the S&P 500 Index and the peer group, and assumes reinvestment of dividends. The stock price
performance of the folff lowing graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance. The industry prr eer group
is comprised of the following publicly-traded real estate services companies: CBRE, Colliers, Cushman, JLL, and
Newmark (collectively “Peer Group”). We selected our Peer Group based on companies that represent our primary
competitors with certain business lines reasonably comparabla e to ours and based on how long they have been publicly-
traded.
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COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among Marcus & Millichap, Inc, the S&P 500 Index, and a Peer Group

Marcus & Millichap, Inc. S&P 500 Index Peer Group
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12/31/18 12/31/19 12/31/20 12/31/21 12/31/22 12/31/23

Marcus & Millichap, Inc. 100.00 108.51 108.45 149.90 103.70 133.59
S&P 500 Index 100.00 131.49 155.68 200.37 164.08 207.21
Peer Group 100.00 147.96 137.37 240.57 156.91 188.48

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer

Share repurchase activity durdd ing the three months ended December 31, 2023 was as folff lows:

Periods

Total Number of
Shares

Purchased(1)
Average Price
Paid Per Share

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as
Part of Publu icly

Announced Plans or
Programs

Approximate Dollar
Value of Shares That May
Yet Be Purchased Under
the Plans or Programs(2)

October 1, 2023 - October 31, 2023 161,490 $ 27.92 161,490 $ 71,511,196
November 1, 2023 - November 30, 2023 200 28.52 200 71,505,492
December 1, 2023 - December 31, 2023 — — — 71,505,492
Total 161,690 161,690 $ 71,505,492

(1) Excludes shares withheld for employee taxes upon vesting of stock-based awards. Stock repurchases under our
program may be made through open market and privately negotiated transactions at times and in such amounts as
management deems appropra iate. The timing and actuat l number of shares repurchased will depend on a variety of
factors including price, corporate and regulatory rrr equirements, capia tal availabia lity, and other market conditions. The
stock repurchase program does not have an expiration date and may be limited or terminated at any time without prior
notice.
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(2) On May 2, 2023, the Board of Directors authorized an additional $70 million to repurchase common stock under its
common stock repurchase program, resulting in approxia mately $72 million availabla e to repurchase shares under its
common stock repurchase program as of December 31, 2023.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Item 6. [RESERVED]R

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The folff lowing discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our
audited consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes thereto included elsewhere herein. The following
discussion contains, in addition to historical information, forward-looking statements that include risks and uncertainties.
Our actuat l results may diffeff r materially from those anticipated in these forff ward-looking statements as a result of certain
factors, including those facff tors set forff th under Item 1A – “Risk Factors” and Item 7 – “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Overview – Factors Affecting Our Business” of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

Our Business

We are a leading national real estate services firm specializing in commercial real estate investment sales, financing
services, research, and advisory services. We have been the top commercial real estate investment broker in the United
States based on the number of investment transactions for more than 15 years. As of December 31, 2023, we had 1,783
investment sales and financing professionals that are primarily exclusive independent contractors operating in more than 80
offiff ces, who provide real estate brokerage and finff ancing services to sellers and buyers of commercial real estate assets.
During the year ended December 31, 2023, we closed 7,546 investment sales, financing and other transactions with total
sales volume of approxia mately $43.6 billion. During the year ended December 31, 2022, we closed 12,272 investment
sales, financing and other transactions with total sales volume of approxia mately $86.3 billion.

We generate revenue by collecting real estate brokerage commissions upon the sale, and finff ancing fees upon the
financing of commercial properties, by providing equity advisory services and loan sales, loan guarantees and providing
consulting and advisory services. Real estate brokerage commissions are typically based uponu the value of the property and
financing fees arff e typically based upon the size of the loan. During the year ended December 31, 2023, approximately 87%
of our revenue was generated froff m real estate brokerage commissions, 10% from finff ancing fees and 3% froff m other
revenue, including consulting and advisory services.

Acquisitions

We continue to pursue opportunities to increase our market presence through the execution of our growth strategies
by targeting markets based on population, employment, level of commercial real estate sales, inventory arr nd competitive
opportunities where we believe the markets will benefit froff m our commercial real estate investment sales, financing,
research, and advisory services.

Factortt s Arr ffeA ctintt g Our Busineii ss

Our business and our operating results, finff ancial condition and liquidity are significantly affeff cted by the number and
size of commercial real estate investment sales and financing transactions that we close in any period. The number and size
of these transactions are affected by our ability to recruirr t and retain investment sales and financing professionals, identify
and contract properties forff sale, and identify tff hose that need finff ancing and refinff ancing. We principally monitor the
commercial real estate market through four factors, which generally drive our business. The factff ors are the economy,
commercial real estate supply and demand, capital markets, and investor sentiment and investment activity.
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The Economy

Our business is dependent on economic conditions within the markets in which we operate. Changes in the economy
on a global, national, regional, or local basis can have a positive or negative impact on our business. Economic indicators
and projeo ctions related to job growth, unemployment, interest rates, retail spending and consumer confidff ence trends can
have a positive or negative impact on our business. Overall market conditions, including global trade, interest rate changes,
inflation, job creation, and global events can affeff ct investor sentiment and, ultimately, the demand for our services from
investors in real estate.

A “soft landing” has emerged as the consensus 2024 economic forecast suggests the U.S. will likely avoid a
recession. However, several facff tors continue to pose a risk to the outlook, including the potential of the Federal Reserve
holding rates too high for too long or dropping rates too soon, the upcomu ing election and governmental dysfunction that
has made it particularly diffiff cult to set a federal budget, geopolitical headwinds including the war in Ukraine and the
Middle East confliff ct and possible finff ancial market and banking sector disruptrr ions.

Despite the risks, numerous metrics suggest the economy remains sound. Job creation has been durable with the
addition of an average of 227,000 jobs per month in the fourth quarter of 2023. The unemployment rate has been range-
bound in the mid to upper 3% band for 24ff months straight, while weekly first-time unemployment claims from December
9, 2023 to January 20, 2024 remain near 200,000, approximately 35% below the pre-pandemic average. In addition, retail
sales increased by 2.8% on an inflation adjusted basis in 2023, and consumer confidff ence has risen to a more than two year
high. These positive trends align with steadily falling inflatioff n. While core Personal Consumption Expenditure (excluding
food and energy), the Federal Reserve’s favored measure, stood at 2.9% on a year-over-year basis as of December 2023,
over the last six months this metric has remained at 1.9% annualized, which is below the Federal Reserve’s target of 2%.

Within this context, the Federal Reserve has suggested they could begin reducing rates in 2024, although the timing
of any reducd tions remains uncertain. Decreasing the overnight rate would send a strong signal to the financial sector and
commercial real estate investors that the Federal Reserve has completed the tightening cycle and begun a normalization
process. That in turn could lead to modest declines in debt capia tal interest rates, which could support increased commercial
real estate transaction activity.

Commercial Real EstEE ate SupplSS y all nd Demand

Our business is dependent on the willingness of investors to invest in or sell commercial real estate, which is affeff cted
by many factors beyond our control. These factff ors include the supply of commercial real estate, coupled with user demand
for these properties, and the performance of real estate assets, when compared with other investment alternatives, such as
stocks and bonds.

Space demand remained positive in 2023 for most commercial real estate property types, with offiff ce being the
notable exception. Despite office’s filling an additional 21 million square feet in the fourff th quarter, the total net offiff ce
space absorption forff the year was negative, resulting in a national office vacancy rate of 16.9%. Multifamff ily demand was
positive throughout 2023, but the 236,000 additional filleff d units failed to keep pace with the record number of apaa rtment
completions on a macro level, resulting in a 90 basis point national average vacancy increase in 2023. Industrial properties
faced a similar challenge with space demand remaining positive through the year, but falling short of the record
development. Retail space also sustained positive absora ptrr ion throughout the year, with limited new construcrr tion helping the
sector achieve a record low vacancy rate.

Although the fundaff mentals of most property types remain sound, both lending and investor activity remain below the
pre-pandemic norm and the expectation gap between buyers and sellers remains wide. The demand forff space will continue
to be influenced by consumer and business sentiment as well as the broader economic outlook.

Capia tal MarMM ketsrr

Credit and liquidity issues in the finff ancial markets have a direct impact on the floff w of capital to the commercial real
estate market. Real estate purchases are often financed with debt, and as a result, credit and liquidity impact transaction
activity and prices. Movements of interest rates in one direction, whether increasing or decreasing, could adversely or
positively affect the operations and income potential of commercial real estate properties, as well as lender and equity
underwriting forff real estate investments. These changes directly influence investor demand for commercial real estate
investments. Furthermore, the use of debt or loan-to-value ratios can shift aff long with lender confidff ence and underwriting
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standards. At times of heightened uncertainty or liquidity issues, loan-to-values decline, requiring buyers to provide more
equity and take more risk to close deals.

The capital markets remain at the heart of the commercial real estate transaction slowdown. The combination of
sharplrr y higher interest rates with tighter lender underwriting, reduced loan-to-value standards and a broad-based reduction
in the volume of available debt capia tal have restrained market liquidity and forff ced investors to recalibrate their
underwriting. This exacerbar ted the buyer/seller expectation gap and reducd ed trading throughout 2023.

Although the Federal Reserve has suggested an increased likelihood of reductions in the overnight rate in 2024, the
timing of any adjustments remains unclear. The Federal Reserve has held interest rates flat in the 5.25% - 5.5% range since
July 2023, but considering that the annualized rate of inflation over the last six months has been below the Federal
Reserve’s 2% target, it appears that inflatioff n risks may be substantively contained. Prevailing Wall Street sentiment has
assigned a 90% likelihood that the overnight rate at the end of 2024 will be lowered by 100 basis points or more, which
would likely place downward pressure on the interest rates charged forff commercial real estate debt capital. The 10-year
treasury rrr ate has remained range bound near 4% since early December 2023, and many economists predict it will remain in
that range through 2024. In general, rate stability with a modest downward bias in combination with a stabla e economy
could support increased investor activity in 2024.

Investor SenSS timent and Investmet nt Activity

We facilitate investors buying, selling, and finff ancing properties in order to generate commissions. Investors’ desires
and need to engage in real estate transactions are dependent on many factors that are beyond our control. The economy,
supplu y and demand for properly positioned properties, availabla e credit and market events impact investor sentiment and,
thereforff e, transaction velocity. In addition, our private clients, who make up tu he largest source of revenue, are oftenff
motivated to buy, sell and/or refinance properties duedd to personal circumstances, such as death, divorce, partnership
breakupskk and estate planning.

Commercial real estate sales activity remained constrained through 2023 as tightened lender underwriting,
significantly higher interest rates, recession risk and broad-based uncertainty impacted investor decisions. We believe a
significant volume of investment capital remains undeployed waiting forff economic, interest rate, financial market,
geopolitical and commercial real estate pricing clarity. Price adjustments are necessary to recalibrate values to higher
interest rates, but the durd ation of the recalibration process will depend on the combination of Federal Reserve rate policies,
political stability and the market forces driving long-term interest rates. Once investors re-engage in the market, it will
likely take time to navigate the price discovery process and for sales activity to revive.

Offiff ce properties, particularly those in the urban core, face the greatest uncertainty and the greatest challenges in
acquiring debt financing. Apartment financing, underpinned by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, has generally been the most
attainable, with typically lower interest rates than other property types. However, the rapid interest rate spike relative to the
sector's very low cap rates and the large apartment development pipeline together with slackening rent growth has impacted
apartment sales. Defensive assets — such as single-tenant net lease properties backed by high-credit tenants — and medical
offiff ce assets continue to receive buyer interest, but sales of these types of properties have also falff len as the flow of 1031
exchange capital coming froff m other property types has diminished. Ultimately, the market velocity will be dictated by a
combination of the economic outlook, geopolitical forces, Federal Reserve action, interest rates and the narrowing of the
buyer/seller expectation gap. If, and when, the Federal Reserve reducdd es rates, we believe commercial real estate sales
activity should begin to increase toward its historical norm in 2024.

Seasonalityll

Our real estate brokerage commissions and finff ancing fees have tended to be seasonal and, combined with other
factors, can affeff ct an investor’s ability to compare our financial condition and results of operations on a quarter-by-quarter
basis. Historically, this seasonality has generally caused our revenue, operating income, net income, and cash floff ws from
operating activities to be lower in the firff st half of the year and higher in the second half of the year, particularly in the
fourth quarter. The concentration of earnings and cash floff ws in the last six months of the year, particularly in the fourff th
quarter, is duedd to an industry-rr wide focus of clients to complete transactions towards the end of the calendar year. This
historical trend can be disruptrr ed both positively and negatively by major economic events, political events, naturt al disasters
or pandemics such as the COVID-19 pandemic, which may impact, among other things, investor sentiment for a particular
property type or location, volatility in financial markets, current and futurff e projeo ctions of interest rates, attractiveness of
other asset classes, market liquidity, and the extent of limitations or availabia lity of capital allocations for larger property

38



buyers, among others. Private client investors may accelerate or delay transactions due to personal or business-related
reasons unrelated to economic events. In addition, our operating margins are typically lower durd ing the second half of each
year due to our commission structurt e forff some of our senior investment sales and financing professionals. These senior
investment sales and financing professionals are on a graduad ted commission schedule that resets annually, pursuant to
which higher commissions are paid for higheff r sales volumes. During the year ended December 31, 2023, seasonal
fluctuations were disruptrr ed by changes in overall market conditions and increased interest rates, and going forward our
historical pattern of seasonality may or may not continue to the same degree experienced in prior years.

Key Financial Measures and Indicators

Revenue

Our revenue is primarily generated from our real estate investment sales business. In addition to real estate brokerage
commissions, we generate revenue from finff ancing fees and froff m other revenue, which are primarily comprised of
consulting and advisory fees.

Because our business is transaction oriented, we rely on investment sales and financing professionals to continually
develop leads, identify pff roperties to sell and finance, market those properties and close the sale timely to generate a
consistent flow of revenue. While our sales volume is impacted by seasonality factors, the timing of closings is also
dependent on many market and personal factff ors unique to a particular client or transaction, particularly clients transacting
in the $1 million to $10 million private client market. These factors can cause transactions to be accelerated or delayed
beyond our control. Further, commission rates earned are generally inversely related to the value of the property sold. As a
result of our expansion into the middle and larger transaction markets, we have seen our overall commission rates fluff ctuat te
from period-to-period as a result of changes in the relative mix of the number and volume of investment sales transactions
closed in the middle and larger transaction markets as compared to the $1 million to $10 million private client market.
These factff ors may result in period-to-period variations in our revenue that differ froff m historical patterns.

A small percentage of our transactions include retainer fees and/or breakage feesff . Retainer fees arff e credited against a
success-based feeff paid upon the closing of a transaction or a breakage fee.ff Transactions that are terminated before
completion will sometimes generate breakage feeff s, which are usually calculated as a set amount or a percentage of the feeff
we would have received had the transaction closed.

Real Estate Brokerkk age Commissiii ons

We earn real estate brokerage commissions by acting as a broker forff commercial real estate owners seeking to sell or
investors seeking to buy properties. Revenue from real estate brokerage commissions is recognized at the close of escrow.

Financing FeesFF

We earn finff ancing fees by securing financing on purchase transactions or by securing refinancing of our clients’
existing mortgage debt. We recognize financing feeff revenue at the time the loan closes, and we have no remaining
significant obligations in connection with the transaction.

To a lesser extent, we also earn fees on loan performance, equity advisory services, loan sales, loan guarantees and
ancillary services associated with financing activities. We recognize guarantee fees over the term of the guarantee and other
fees when we have no further obligations, generally upon the closing of the transaction. We no longer hold any mortgage
servicing rights ("MSRs"), but prior to the third quarter of 2022, we recognized mortgage servicing revenue upon the
acquisition of a servicing obligation. We generated mortgage servicing fees through the provision of collection, remittance,
recordkeeping, reporting, and other related mortgage servicing functions, activities, and services.

Othett r Revenue

Other revenue includes feesff generated froff m consulting and advisory services, leasing, as well as referral feesff from
other real estate brokers, and are recognized when services are provided, upon closing of the transaction or when we have
no further obligations.
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Operatintt g ExpeEE nses

Our operating expenses consist of cost of services, selling, general and administrative expenses and depreciation and
amortization. The significant components of our expenses are furff ther described below.

Cost of Services

The majority of our cost of services expense is variabla e commissions paid to our investment sales and financing
profesff sionals and compensation-related costs related to our financing activities. Commission expenses are directly
attributable to providing services to our clients forff investment sales and financing services. Most of our investment sales
and finff ancing profesff sionals are independent contractors and are paid commissions; however, because there are some who
are initially paid a salary arr nd certain of our financing professionals are employees, costs of services also include employee-
related compensation, employer taxes and benefitsff for those employees. The commission rates we pay to our investment
sales and financing professionals vary based on individual contracts negotiated and are generally higher forff the more
experienced profesff sionals. Some of our most senior investment sales and financing professionals can also earn additional
commissions afteff r meeting certain annual finff ancial thresholds. These additional commissions are recognized as cost of
services in the period in which they are earned. Payment of a portion of these additional commissions are generally
deferred forff a period of three years, at our election, and paid at the end of the third calendar year. Cost of services also
includes referral feeff s paid to other real estate brokers where we are the principal service provider. Cost of services,
thereforff e, can vary based on the commission structurt e of the independent contractors that closed transactions in any
particular period.

Selling, General and Admidd nistraii tive ExpenEE ses

The largest expense component within selling, general and administrative expenses is personnel expenses for our
management team and sales and support staff, as well as business development, marketing, and expensing of forgivableff
loans over the retention period of our sales and financing professionals. In addition, these costs include facilities costs
(excluding depreciation and amortization), staff related expenses, sales, marketing, legal, telecommunication, network, data
sources, transaction costs related to acquisitions, changes in faiff r value for contingent and deferred consideration and other
administrative expenses. Also included in selling, general and administrative are expenses for stock-based compensation to
non-employee directors, employees and independent contractors (i.e. investment sales and financing professionals) under
the 2013 Plan and the ESPP.

Depre eciation and Amortizaii tion Expensex

Depreciation expense consists of depreciation recorded on our computer software and hardware equipment, as well as
our furniture, fixtuff res and equipment. Depreciation is recognized over estimated useful lives ranging from three to seven
years forff assets. Amortization expense consists of (i) amortization recorded on intangible assets amortized on a straight-line
basis using a useful life bff etween one and seven years and (ii) amortization recorded for the 2022 and 2021 periods on our
mortgage servicing rights using the interest method over the period that servicing income was expected to be received.
Such servicing rights were terminated in June 2022.

Othett r IncomII e, Net

Other income, net primarily consists of interest income, realized gains and losses on our marketable debt securities,
availabla e-for-sale, net gains or losses on our deferred compensation plan assets, forff eign currency gains and losses and other
non-operating income and expenses.

Interest Expensex

Interest expense primarily consists of interest expense associated with the stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) liabia lity,
and our credit agreement.

(Benefit)ff Provision forff Income Taxesaa

We are subject to U.S. and Canadian federal taxes and individual state and local taxes based on the income generated
in the jurisdictions in which we operate. Our effeff ctive tax rate fluctuates as a result of (i) changes in our annual effecff tive
tax rate appla ied to current pre-tax income (loss), (ii) the change in the mix of our activities in the jurisdictions in which we
operate due to differing tax rates in those jurisdictions and (iii) the impact of permanent items, including compensation
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charges, qualified transportation friff nge benefits, uncertain tax positions, meals and entertainment and tax-exempt deferred
compensation plan assets. Our (benefit)ff provision for income taxes includes the windfalff l tax benefits and shortfallff
expenses, net, froff m shares issued in connection with our 2013 Plan and ESPP.

We record deferred taxes, net based on the tax rate expected to be in effeff ct at the time those items are expected to be
recognized for tax purposes.

Results of Operations

The folff lowing is a discussion of our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. The
tabla es included in the period comparisons below provide summaries of our results of operations. The period-to-period
comparisons of financial results are not necessarily indicative of futurff e results.

Key Oe peOO rating Mn etMM ritt cs

We regularly review a number of key metrics to evaluate our business, measure our performance, identify tff rends
affeff cting our business, formulate finff ancial projections and make strategic decisions. We also believe these metrics are
relevant to investors’ and others’ assessment of our financial condition and results of operations. During the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, we closed more than 7,500, 12,200 and 13,200 investment sales, financing and other
transactions, respectively, with total sales volume of approxia mately $43.6 billion, $86.3 billion and $84.4 billion,
respectively. Such key metrics for real estate brokerage and finff ancing activities (excluding other transactions) are as
follows:

Years Ended December 31,

Real Estate Brokerkk age 2023 2022 2021

Average Number of Investment Sales Professionals 1,744 1,817 1,925
Average Number of Transactions per Investment Sales Professional 3.14 5.01 5.01
Average Commission per Transaction $ 102,238 $ 128,450 $ 121,319
Average Commission Rate 1.82 % 1.72 % 1.73 %
Average Transaction Size (in thousands) $ 5,630 $ 7,473 $ 6,994
Total Number of Transactions 5,475 9,111 9,652
Total Sales Volume (in millions) $ 30,823 $ 68,088 $ 67,507

Years Ended December 31,

Financing (1) 2023 2022 2021

Average Number of Financing Profesff sionals 96 86 85
Average Number of Transactions per Financing Profesff sional 11.21 24.92 29.11
Average Fee per Transaction $ 50,677 $ 44,546 $ 37,959
Average Fee Rate 0.81 % 0.74 % 0.81 %
Average Transaction Size (in thousands) $ 6,254 $ 5,984 $ 4,691
Total Number of Transactions 1,076 2,143 2,474
Total Financing Volume (in millions) $ 6,729 $ 12,823 $ 11,605

(1) Operating metrics exclude certain finff ancing fees not directly associated to transactions.
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Comparison of Years Err ndEE eddd December 31, 2023 and 2022

Below are key operating results for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the results for the year ended
December 31, 2022 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31

2023,

Percentage
of

Revenue

Year Ended
December 31

2022,

Percentage
of

Revenue
Change

Dollar Percentage

Revenue:
Real estate brokerage commissions $ 559,752 86.6 % $ 89.9%1,170,310 $(610,558) (52.2)%
Financing feeff s 66,898 10.4 112,978 8.7 (46,080) (40.8)%
Other revenue 4.6 %19,277 3.03.0 18,42218,422 1.41.4 855855

Total revenue 645,927 100 1,301,710 100 (655,783) (50.4)%
Operating expenses:

Cost of services 65.4850,89463.0406,645 (444,249) (52.2)%
Selling, general and administrative 2 23.0300,00944.185,023 (14,986) (5.0)%
Depreciation and amortization 1.6 %1.0 22113,406 1.02.1 13,40613,627 2.1

Total operating expenses 89.41,164,309109.2705,295 (459,014) (39.4)%
Operating (loss) income (59,368) (9 137,401 10.6.2) (196,769) (143.2)%
Other income, net 1 272.1 %14,5195,336 0.45,3369,855 3.0 5,336 0.43.0
Interest expense (888) (0.1) (708) (0.1) (1 25.4 %80)
(Loss) income before (benefitff ) provision
for income taxes (40,401) (6 10.9142,029.3) (182,430) (128.4)%

(Benefit)ff provision for income taxes (6,366) (1 2.937,804.0) (44,170) (116.8)%
Net (loss) income $ (34,035) (5.3) $% 8.0%104,225 $(138,260) (132.7)%

Adjud sted EBITDA (1) $ (19,630) (3.0) $% 12.7%165,504 $(185,134) (111.9)%

(1) Adjud sted EBITDA is not a measurement of our financial performance under U.S. GAAP and should not be
considered as an alternative to net income, operating income or any other measures derived in accordance with U.S.
GAAP. For a definff ition of Adjud sted EBITDA and a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net (loss) income, which
is the most directly comparabla e U.S. GAAP financial measure, see “Non-GAAP Financial Measure” below.

Revenue

Our total revenue was $645.9 million in 2023 compared to $1,301.7 million in 2022, a decrease of $655.8 million, or
50.4%. Total revenue decreased as a result of decreases in real estate brokerage commissions and finff ancing fees, as
described below. See "Factors Affeff cting Our Business" section forff additional market information.

Real estate brokerkk age commissiii ons. Revenue from real estate brokerage commissions decreased to $559.8 million in
2023, from $1,170.3 million in 2022, a decrease of $610.6 million, or 52.2%. The number of transactions decreased by
39.9% and the average transaction size decreased by 24.7%, which drove a decrease of revenue of 45.3% in the Private
Client Market and a decrease of 64.2% in the combined Middle Market and Larger Transaction Market. The average
commission rate increased by 10 basis points in 2023 compared to 2022, as a result of a shift iff n the proportion of
transactions to the Private Client Market from the Middle Market and Larger Transaction Market as Private Client Market
transactions typically earn higher commission rates.

Financing feesff . Revenue from finff ancing fees decreased to $66.9 million in 2023 from $113.0 million in 2022, a
decrease of $46.1 million, or 40.8%, resulting primarily from a 49.8% decrease in the number of finff ancing transactions.
This decrease was partially offsff et by an increase in the average transaction size of 4.5%, and an increase in the average feeff
per transaction of 13.8%, resulting in an increase in the average feeff rate of seven basis points.

Othett r revenue. Other revenue of $19.3 million in 2023 was comparabla e to $18.4 million in 2022.
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Total OpeO rating ExpEE enses

Our total operating expenses were $705.3 million in 2023 compared to $1,164.3 million in 2022, a decrease of $459.0
million, or 39.4%. Cost of services decreased by $444.2 million and selling, general, and administrative expenses
decreased by $15.0 million, as described below.

Cost of services. Cost of services are variabla e commissions paid to our investment sales professionals and
compensation-related costs in connection with our financing activities. Cost of services decreased to $406.6 million in 2023
from $850.9 million in 2022, a decrease of $444.2 million, or 52.2%. The decrease was primarily due to decreased
commission expenses driven by the related decreased revenue discussed abovea . Cost of services as a percentage of total
revenue decreased by 240 basis points to 63.0% compared to 2022 primarily due to our senior investment sales and
financing professionals earning a lower amount of additional commissions due to lower revenue.

Selling, general, and administrative expenee se. Selling, general and administrative expense decreased to $285.0 million
in 2023, from $300.0 million in 2022, a decrease of $15.0 million or 5.0%. The decrease was primarily due to a reducd tion
in compensation-related costs, specifically performance-based bonuses for 2023, partially offsff et by an increase in business
development, marketing, and expensing of forff givable loans related to the long-term retention of our sales and financing
profesff sionals. As a percentage of revenue, selling, general and administrative expense increased due to the fixff ed nature of
certain of these expenses.

Depre eciation and amortizaii tion expense. Depreciation and amortization expense increased by an immaterial amount in
2023 compared to 2022.

Othett r IncomII e, Net

Other income, net increased to $19.9 million in 2023 from $5.3 million in 2022. The increase of $14.5 million was
primarily driven by an increase of $8.9 million in income froff m investments as a result of increased interest rates and a
favorable change of $3.3 million in the value of our deferred compensation plan assets that are held in a rabbia trusrr t.

Interest Expensex

Interest expense increased by an immaterial amount in 2023 compared to 2022, and primarily relates to interest
expense on our SARs liability.

(Benefit)ff Provision forff Income Taxesaa

The benefitff for income taxes was $6.4 million in 2023, compared to a provision for income taxes of $37.8 million in
2022. The effective income tax rate for 2023 was 15.8% compared to 26.6% for 2022. The majority of the reducd tion in the
effeff ctive tax rate is related to permanent and other items and state income tax expense as presented in Note 12 - "Income
Taxes" of our accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Comparison of Years Err ndEE eddd December 31, 2022 and 2021

A discussion regarding our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the results for
the year ended December 31, 2021 can be found under Item 7 – “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations – Results of Operations” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K forff the fisff cal year ended
December 31, 2022, filed with the SEC on February 2rr 8, 2023, which is availabla e on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.

Non-GAAP Financial Measure

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we include a non-GAAP financial measure, Adjud sted EBITDA. We define
Adjud sted EBITDA as net (loss) income before (i) interest income and other, including net realized gains (losses) on
marketable debt securities, availabla e-for-sale and cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, (ii) interest expense, (iii)
(benefit)ff provision for income taxes, (iv) depreciation and amortization, (v) stock-based compensation, and (vi) non-cash
MSR activity. We use Adjud sted EBITDA in our business operations to evaluate the performance of our business, develop
budgets and measure our performance against those budgets, among other things. We also believe that analysts and
investors use Adjud sted EBITDA as a supplemental measure to evaluate our overall operating performance. However,
Adjud sted EBITDA has material limitations as a supplemental metric and should not be considered in isolation, or as a
subsu titute for analysis of our results as reported under U.S. GAAP. We finff d Adjusted EBITDA to be a useful management
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metric to assist in evaluating performance, because Adjud sted EBITDA eliminates items related to capital strucrr ture, taxes
and non-cash items. In light of the forff egoing limitations, we do not rely solely on Adjud sted EBITDA as a performance
measure and also consider our U.S. GAAP results. Adjud sted EBITDA is not a measurement of our financial performance
under U.S. GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to net income, operating income or any other measures
calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Because Adjud sted EBITDA is not calculated in the same manner by all
companies, it may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures used by other companies. A reconciliation of the
most directly comparable U.S. GAAP financial measure, net income, to Adjusted EBITDA is as folff lows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Net (loss) income $ (34,035) $ 104,225 $ 142,470
Adjud stments:

Interest income and other (1) (17,890) (7,951) (2,496)
Interest expense 888 708 580
(Benefit)ff provision for income taxes (6,366) 37,804 50,833
Depreciation and amortization 13,627 13,406 11,721
Stock-based compensation 24,146 17,312 10,361
Non-cash MSR activity (2) — — (467)

Adjud sted EBITDA $ (19,630) $ 165,504 $ 213,002

(1) Other includes net realized gains (losses) on marketable debt securities, availabla e-for-sale.
(2) Non-cash MSR activity includes the assumption of servicing obligations.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash and cash equivalents, cash flows froff m operations, marketabla e debt
securities, availabla e-for-sale and, if necessary, borrowings under the Credit Agreement (as defined herein). In order to
enhance our yield, we have invested a portion of our cash in money market fundsff and fixff ed and variabla e income debt
securities, in accordance with our investment policy approvea d by the Board of Directors. Certain of our investments in
money market fundsff may not maintain a stabla e net asset value and may impose a discretionary liquidity fee. To date, we
have not experienced any restrictions on our ability to redeem funds from money market fundsff . Although we have
historically funded our operations through operating cash flows, there can be no assurance that we can continue to meet our
cash requirements entirely through our operations, cash and cash equivalents, proceeds froff m the sale of marketable debt
securities, availabla e-for-sale or availabia lity under the Credit Agreement.

Cash Flowsll

Our total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash balance decreased by $65.1 million to $170.8 million at
December 31, 2023, compared to $235.9 million at December 31, 2022. The folff lowing tabla e sets forff th our summary cash
flows forff the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities $ (72,430) $ 13,629 $ 255,903
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 74,867 (53,975) (108,356)
Net cash used in finff ancing activities (67,679) (105,555) (5,919)
Effeff ct of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and
restricted cash 122 (366) (2,640)
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (65,120) (146,267) 138,988
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period 235,873 382,140 243,152
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period $ 170,753 $ 235,873 $ 382,140
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Operating Activities

Cash flows used in operating activities were $72.4 million in 2023 compared to cash floff ws provided by operating
activities of $13.6 million in 2022. The $86.0 million decrease in cash floff ws from operating activities in 2023 compared to
2022 was primarily due to decreased operating income, as discussed abovea . The cash floff ws from operating activities were
also affeff cted by the timing of certain cash receipts and payments.

Investing Activities

Cash flows provided by investing activities were $74.9 million in 2023 compared to cash floff ws used in investing
activities of $54.0 million in 2022. The $128.9 million increase in cash provided by investing activities in 2023 compared
to 2022 was primarily due to a net increase of $119.1 million in net proceeds froff m sales, purchases, and maturities of
securities in 2023 compared to the same period in 2022, as well as the 2022 acquisition of a business for $12.5ff million,
with no corresponding outflow in 2023.

Financing Activities

Cash flows used in finff ancing activities were $67.7 million in 2023 compared to $105.6 million in 2022. The decrease
of $37.9 million in cash floff ws used in financing activities in 2023 compared to 2022 was primarily due to a decrease of
$5.3 million in taxes paid related to net share settlement of stock-based awards, along with a decrease of $40.3 million in
dividends paid, partially offsff et by an increase of $10.4 million in stock repurchases. The decrease in dividend paid relates
primarily to a one-time special dividend paid in 2022 with no corresponding one-time dividend payment in 2023.

Liquidity

We believe that our existing balances of cash and cash equivalents, cash floff ws expected to be generated froff m our
operations, and proceeds froff m the sale of marketable debt securities, availabla e-for-sale will be sufficient to satisfy our
operating requirements forff at least the next 12 months and beyond. If we need to raise additional capital through public or
private debt or equity financings, strategic relationships or other arrangements, this capital might not be availabla e to us in a
timely manner, on acceptable terms, or at all. Our faiff lure to raise suffiff cient capital when needed could prevent us from
funding acquisitions or otherwise finff ancing our growth or operations. As of December 31, 2023, cash, cash equivalents,
and restricted cash and marketable debt securities, availabla e-for-sale, aggregated $407.1 million.

Creditdd Agreement

We have a credit agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (as amended, the "Credit Agreement")
which provides forff a $10.0 million principal amount senior secured revolving credit facility that is guaranteed by all of our
domestic subsu idiaries and matures on June 1, 2024. We monitor covenant compliance on a regular basis to ensure
continued compliance with the Credit Agreement. Our abia lity to borrow under the Credit Agreement is limited by our
ability to comply with its covenants or obtain necessary waivers. See Note 15 – “Commitments and Contingencies” of our
accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements forff additional information on the Credit Agreement.

Off Bff alance Sheet Arrangements

The Company, in connection with the Strategic Alliance with M&T Realty Capia tal Corporation (“MTRCC”), has
agreed to provide loan opportunities that may be funded through MTRCC’s agreement with Fannie Mae, which requires
MTRCC to guarantee a portion of each funded loan. On a loan-by-loan basis, the Company, at its option, can assume a
portion of MTRCC’s guarantee obligation to Fannie Mae of loan opportunities presented to and closed by MTRCC. As of
December 31, 2023, the Company has agreed to a maximum aggregate guarantee obligation of $152.6 million relating to
loans with an unpaid balance of $915.4 million. The maximum guarantee obligation is not representative of the actual loss
we would incur. The Company would be liabla e forff this amount only if all of the loans for which it is providing a guarantee
to MTRCC were to defauff lt and all of the collateral underlying these loans was determined to be without value at the time of
settlement. The Company records a loan-loss obligation and is required to provide cash collateral to MTRCC for this
obligation and has provided $283,000 as of December 31, 2023 which is included in cash and cash equivalent on the
balance sheet.
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Material Cash Requirements

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes current and long-term material cash requirements as of December 31, 2023, which
we expect to fund primarily with operating cash floff ws (in thousands):

Total
Less than
1 Year

1-3
Years

3-5
Years

More
Than 5
Years Other (7)

Operating lease liabia lities, including
imputed interest (1) $ 100,099 $ 21,795 $ 38,241 $ 20,711 $ 19,352 $ —

SARs liabia lity (principal and interest) (2) 19,264 2,457 5,559 1,382 9,866 —
Deferred commissions payable (3) 48,706 20,508 28,198 — — —
Deferred compensation liabia lity (4) 8,356 201 221 207 1,587 6,140
Contingent consideration (5) 5,482 819 4,588 75 — —
Deferred consideration (5) 1,570 1,177 393 — — —
Other (6) 15,888 9,162 2,130 1,130 390 3,076

$ 199,365 $ 56,119 $ 79,330 $ 23,505 $ 31,195 $ 9,216

(1) See Note 4 – “Operating Leases” of our accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
(2) Forecasted principal payments are based on each participant’s estimated retirement age and current contractualt

interest rate of 5.79% as of January 1, 2rr 023 and refleff ct required payments that resulted froff m the retirement of certain
executives. See Note 7 – “Selected Balance Sheet Data” of our accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

(3) Includes short-term and long-term deferred commissions payable (excludes commissions currently payable on
closed transactions). See Note 7 – “Selected Balance Sheet Data” of our accompanying Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

(4) Represents current estimated payouts for paff rticipants currently receiving payments based on their elections at the
time of deferral. We hold assets in a rabbi trusrr t of $10.8 million to settle outstanding amounts when they become
due. Amounts assume no increase or decrease in the liabia lity dued to future returns or losses. See Note 7 – “Selected
Balance Sheet Data” of our accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(5) Relates to contingent and deferff red consideration in connection with our business acquisitions. See Note 6 –
“Acquisitions, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” and Note 9 – “Fair Value Measurements” of our
accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(6) Relates to amounts that may be advanced to sales and financing professionals. See Note 15 – “Commitments and
Contingencies” of our accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(7) Amounts in Other represent amounts where payments are dependent on future events, which may occur at any time
from less than 1 year to more than 5 years and relates to our deferred compensation liabia lity and certain advances to
sales and financing professionals. Payments forff deferred compensation liabia lity are based on the participants’
elections at the time of deferral and may not begin beforff e separation froff m service. The ultimate resolution depends
on many factors and assumptions. Certain amounts advanced to sales and financing professionals are contingent
upon reaching specified performance criteria. Accordingly, we are not able to reasonably estimate the timing of such
payments, if any.

Other than operating expenses, including those accrued and payable as December 31, 2023, cash requirements forff
2024 are expected to consist primarily of capital expenditures forff the futurff e acquisitions, if any, payment of dividends,
payments for stock repurchases, and advances to our investment sales and financing professionals.

Inflation

Our commissions and other variable costs related to revenue are primarily affeff cted by real estate market supplu y and
demand, which may be affeff cted by uncertain or changing economic and market conditions, including inflation/deflation
arising in connection with and in response to various macroeconomic factors and impact of increased interest rates on the
broader economy.

The annual inflatioff n rate in the U.S. increased to 9.1% in June 2022, the highest annual inflatioff n rate since November
1981, but has falff len to 3.4% in December 2023. In 2022 through 2023, the Federal Reserve increased the federalff funds rate
to the 5.25%-5.5% range in an effortff to combat inflation, and this has had an adverse impact on commercial real estate
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transactions. Inflatioff n has increased the wages paid to our employees and independent contractors. Furthermore, our clients
are also affected by inflation and increased interest rates. Entering 2024, consensus forff ecasts anticipate the Federal Reserve
will begin cutting rates this year, but the timing and magnitude of any prospective cuts will be dependent on a continued
decline in inflatiff on and slowing economic growth.

Critical Accounting Estimates

We prepare our financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP. In applying many of these accounting principles,
we make assumptions, estimates and/or judgments that affeff ct the reported amounts of assets, liabia lities, revenues and
expenses in our consolidated financial statements. We base our estimates and judgments on historical experience and other
assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. These assumptions, estimates and/or judgments,
however, are ofteff n subjective and our actuat l results may change based on changing circumstances or changes in our
analyses. If actuatt l amounts are ultimately different from our estimates, the revisions are included in our results of
operations for the period in which the actuat l amounts become known.

We believe that the critical accounting policies discussed below involve a greater degree of judgment or complexity
than our other accounting policies. Accordingly, these are the policies we believe are the most critical to aid in fulff ly
understanding and evaluating our consolidated financial condition and results of operations. See the notes to our
consolidated financial statements forff a summary of our significant accounting policies.

Income Taxesaa

We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method. We recognize deferred tax assets and liabia lities
for the future tax consequences attributable to (i) differeff nces between the finff ancial statement carrying amounts of existing
assets and liabia lities and their respective tax basis, and (ii) operating losses and tax credit carryforwards. We measure
existing deferred tax assets and liabia lities using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which
we expect to have temporary drr iffereff nces realized or settled. We recognize in the provision for income taxes, the effeff ct on
deferred tax assets and liabia lities of a change in tax rates in the period that includes the enactment date. We periodically
evaluate deferred tax assets to assess whether it is likely that the deferred tax assets will be realized. In determining
whether a valuation allowance is required, we consider the timing of deferred tax reversals, current year taxable income,
and historical performance. Valuation allowances are provided against deferred tax assets when it is more-likely-than-not
that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. Our valuation allowance is related principally to losses
incurred in our Canadian operations. Futurt e results of operations of the Canadian business will impact valuation allowances
in the futurff e.

Due to the nature of our business, which includes activity in the U.S. and Canada, incorporating numerous states and
provinces as well as local jurisdictions, our tax position can be complex. As such, our effeff ctive tax rate is subju ect to
changes as a result of fluctuations in the mix of our activity in the various jurisdictions in which we operate including
changes in tax rates, state appora tionment, tax related interest and penalties, valuation allowances and other permanent
items, including net windfalff ls and shortfalff ls related to stock-based compensation. Calculating some of the amounts
involves a high degree of judgment. Our state taxes, net of federalff benefit, has ranged froff m 1.5% to 4.8% over the past 3
years.

We evaluate our tax positions quarterly. The threshold forff recognizing the benefitsff of tax returt n positions in the
financial statements is “more likely than not” to be sustained by the taxing authority and requires measurement of a tax
position meeting the more-likely-than-not criterion, based on the largest benefit thff at is more than 50% likely to be realized.
We assess our inventory orr f tax positions with respect to all appla icable income tax issues for all open tax years (in each
respective jurisdiction) and determine whether uncertain tax positions are required to be recognized in our consolidated
financial statements.

The abovea factors create volatility in our effeff ctive tax rate from quarter to quarter and have caused our effeff ctive tax
rates to range from 15.8% to 26.6% over the past three years.

We recognize interest and penalties incurred as income tax expense. See Note 12 – “Income Taxes” of our
accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements forff additional information.

47



Leases

Our leases consist of purpose built-out offiff ce space, which reverts to the lessor uponu termination of the lease and
operating leases for autos. We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Right-of-use assets (“ROU assets”)
represent our right to use an underlying asset forff the lease term and lease liabia lities represent our contractuat l obligation to
make lease payments under the lease. Operating leases are included in operating lease ROU assets, non-current, and
operating lease liabia lities current and non-current capta ions in the consolidated balance sheets.

Operating lease ROU assets and liabia lities are recognized on the commencement date based on the present value of
lease payments over the lease term. Lease agreements may contain periods of free rent or reducd ed rent, predetermined fixed
increases in the minimum rent and renewal or termination options, all of which add complexity and impact the
determination of the lease term and lease payments to be used in calculating the lease liabia lity. Certain facility leases
provide for rental escalations related to increases in the lessors’ direct operating expenses. We use the implicit rate in the
lease when determinable. As most of our leases do not have a determinable implicit rate, determining the rate to be used in
our calculations is judgmental. We use an estimated incremental borrowing rate based on borrowing options under our
credit agreement and apply a spread over treasury rrr ates for the indicated term of the lease based on the information
availabla e on the commencement date of the lease. As a result, the incremental borrowing rate has and will continue to be
impacted by market interest rates. The weighted average incremental borrowing rate was 4.7% in 2023 and 3.9% in 2022.
Any payments forff completed improvements, determined to be owed by the lessor, net of incentives received, are recorded
as an increase to the ROU asset and considered in the determination of the lease cost.

We have lease agreements with lease and non-lease components, which are accounted for as a single lease
component. Lease cost is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments consist of
common area costs, insurance, taxes, utilities, parking, and other lease related costs, which are determined principally
based on billings from landlords.

Investments itt n Mii arkeMM table Dll ebt SecSS urities, Availaii ble-ll fo- r-Sa- le

We maintain a portfolff io of investments in a variety of fixff ed and variabla e rate debt securities, including U.S.
treasuries, U.S. government sponsored entities, corporate debt, asset-backed securities, and other. We consider our
investments in marketabla e debt securities to be available-for-sale, and accordingly, are recorded at their faiff r values. We
determine the appropriate classification of investments in marketabla e debt securities at the time of purchase. Interest along
with amortization of purchase premiums and accretion of discounts froff m the purchase date through the estimated maturt ity
date, including consideration of variabla e maturtt ities and contractuat l call provisions, are included in other income, net in the
consolidated statements of operations. See Note 5 – “Investments in Marketabla e Debt Securities, Availabla e-for-Sale” of our
accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements forff additional information. We typically invest in highly rated
debt securities, and our investment policy generally limits the amount of credit exposure to any one issuer. The policy
requires substantially all investments to be investment grade, with the primary objective of minimizing the potential risk of
principal loss and matching long-term liabia lities.

Unrealized losses on our marketable securities, availabla e-for-sale, fluctuate based on changes in market interest rates
due the fixff ed interest rates of most of the securities. Unrealized losses aggregated $2,635,000 and $5,508,000 as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. We review our investment portfolff io quarterly for all securities in an unrealized
loss position to determine if an impairment charge or credit reserve is required. We exclude accruerr d interest froff m both the
fair value and the amortized cost basis of marketabla e debt securities, availabla e-for-sale, for the purposes of identifyingff and
measuring an impairment. An investment is impaired if the fair value is less than its amortized cost basis. Impairment
relating to credit losses is recorded through a reducd tion in the amortized cost of the security or an allowance forff credit
losses and credit loss expense (included in selling, general and administrative expense), limited by the amount that the fairff
value is less than the amortized cost basis. Impairment that has not been recorded as a credit loss is recorded through other
comprehensive (loss) income, net of applicable taxes. We made an accounting policy election to not measure an allowance
for credit losses forff accrued interest receivable. We evaluate write-off of aff ccruerr d interest receivable by the major security-
type level at the time credit loss exists for the underlying security.

Determining whether a credit loss exists requires a high degree of judgment, and we consider both qualitative and
quantitative factff ors in making our determination. We evaluate our intent to sell, or whether we will more likely than not be
required to sell, the security beforff e recovery of its amortized cost basis. For all securities in an unrealized loss position, we
evaluate, among other items, the extent and length of time the faiff r market value of a security is less than its amortized cost,
time to maturity, durd ation, seniority, the financial condition of the issuer including credit ratings, any changes thereto and
relative default rates and loss severity, leverage ratios, availabia lity of liquidity to make principle and interest payments,
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performance indicators of the underlying assets, analyst reports and recommendations, and changes in base and market
interest rates. If the qualitative and quantitative analysis is suffiff cient to conclude that an impairment related to credit losses
does not exist, we typically do not perform further quantitative analysis to estimate the present value of cash floff ws
expected to be collected from the debt security. Estimates of expected future cash floff ws are our best estimate based on past
events, current conditions, and reasonable and supporu tabla e economic forecasts. To date, we have not recorded any credit
losses or impairments on our portfolff io of marketable securities, availabla e forff sale.

Contintt gent and Deferff red ConCC sideration

In connection with certain business acquisitions, the Company may enter into agreements to pay additional cash or
other consideration based on the achievement of certain performance measures and/or service and time requirements.
Contingent and deferff red consideration in connection with the acquisition of a business is measured at fair value on the
acquisition date and remeasured at fair value each reporting period thereafteff r until the consideration is settled, with changes
in fair value recorded in selling, general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

In its determination of faiff r value for contingent and deferff red consideration, the Company uses judgment in
determining the probability of achieving contractuat l EBITDA and other performance targets and the time frame in which
the settlements will occur. Further, judgment is used in determining the appropra iate current and futurff e interest rates to
apply in each situation. The Company estimated the probability of achievement of contractuat l EBITDA and other
performance targets was between 11.1% to 100.0% based on each acquisition’s historical and estimated futurff e performance
and risk adjusted discount rates of between 5.3% to 6.4%, which resulted in a recorded fair value forff the contingent
consideration of $5.5 million and $7.1 million as of December 31, 2023, and 2022, respectively. The Company estimated
the faiff r value of the deferff red consideration using a discounted cash floff w estimate using market rates, with the only
remaining condition on such payments being the passage of time which resulted in a recorded fair value of $1.6 million and
$5.1 million as of December 31, 2023, and 2022, respectively. The maximum undiscounted future settlements of
contingent and deferff red consideration was $14.7 million at December 31, 2023, and the Company is uncertain as to the
extent of the volatility in the judgments and unobservable inputs will have on the ultimate settlement of these amounts in
the forff eseeable future.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For information regarding recent accounting pronouncements, see Note 2 – “Accounting Policies and Recent
Accounting Pronouncements” of our accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements set forth in Item 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. We do not believe any of the other accounting pronouncements listed in that note will have
a significant impact on our business.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We maintain a portfolff io of investments in a variety of fixff ed and variabla e debt rate securities, including U.S.
Treasuries, U.S. government sponsored entities, corporate debt, asset-backed securities and others. As of December 31,
2023, the faiff r value of investments in marketabla e debt securities, availabla e-for-sale was $236.3 million. The primary
objective of our investment activity is to maintain the safety of principal and to provide for futurff e liquidity requirements
while maximizing yields without significantly increasing risk. While some investments may be securities of companies in
foreign countries, all investments are denominated and payable in U.S. Dollars. We do not enter into investments forff
trading or speculative purposes. While our intent is not to sell these investment securities prior to their stated maturt ities, we
may choose to sell any of the securities forff strategic reasons including, but not limited to, anticipated capital requirements,
anticipation of credit deterioration, duration management, yield management and because a security no longer meets the
criteria of our investment policy. We do not use derivatives or similar instrumrr ents to manage our interest rate risk. We seek
to invest in high quality investments. The weighted average credit rating of our portfolff io investments (exclusive of cash,
cash equivalents, and restricted cash) was AA as of December 31, 2023. Maturities are maintained consistent with our
short-, medium- and long-term liquidity objectives.

Currently, our portfolff io of investments predominantly consists of fixed interest rate debt securities; however, a
portion of our investment portfolff io may consist of variabla e interest rate debt securities. Our investments in fixff ed interest
rate debt securities are subju ect to various market risks. Changes in prevailing interest rates may adversely or positively
impact their faiff r market value should interest rates generally rise or fall. Accordingly, we also may have interest rate risk
with variable interest rate debt securities as the income produced may decrease if interest rates fall. Contraction in market
liquidity may adversely affect the value of portions of our portfolff io and affect our ability to sell securities in the time
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frames required and at acceptabla e prices. Uncertainty in future market conditions may raise market participant’s
expectations of returns, thus impacting the value of securities in our portfolff io as well. The folff lowing tabla e sets forff th the
impact on the faiff r value of our investments as of December 31, 2023 from changes in interest rates based on the weighted
average durd ation of the debt securities in our portfolff io (in thousands):

Change in Interest Rates

Approximate
Change in
Fair Value of
Investments
Increase
(Decrease)

2% Decrease ….................. $ 4,624
1% Decrease ….................. $ 2,312
1% Increase ….................. $ (2,311)
2% Increase ….................. $ (4,621)

Due to the nature of our business and the manner in which we conduct our operations, we believe we do not face any
material interest rate risk with respect to other assets and liabia lities, equity price risk or other market risks. The funcff tional
currency of our Canadian operations is the Canadian dollar. We are exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk for the
settlement of transactions of the Canadian operations as well as unrealized translation adjustments. Historically foreign
exchange rate risk has not been material.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

See pages beginning at F-1.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over finff ancial reporting, as
such term is defined in Exchange Act RulRR es 13a-15(f), including maintenance of (i) records that in reasonable detail
accurately and faiff rly refleff ct the transactions and dispositions of our assets, and (ii) policies and procedurd es that provide
reasonable assurance that (a) transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of finff ancial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, (b) our receipts and
expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and our Board of Directors, and (c) we
will prevent or timely detect unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our assets that could have a material effecff t on
the finff ancial statements.

Our management, with the supervision and participation of our chief executive officer (“CEO”) and chief finff ancial
offiff cer (“CFO”), has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedurd es (as definff ed in Rules 13a- 15(e)
and 15d- 15(e) under the Exchange Act), as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, based
on the criteria established under the Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("COSO") (2013 framework). Based on such evaluation, our management has
concluded that as of December 31, 2023, our disclosure controls and procedurd es are designed at a reasonable assurance
level and are effective to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or
submu it under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the
rules and forms of the SEC, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our
CEO and CFO, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over finff ancial reporting,
as defined in RulRR es 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act.
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Our system of internal control is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliabia lity of financial
reporting and preparation of our financial statements forff external reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Our
management, including our CEO and CFO, assessed the effeff ctiveness of our internal control over finff ancial reporting as of
December 31, 2023. In conducting its assessment, management used the criteria issued by COSO. Based on this
assessment, management concluded that, as of December 31, 2023, our internal control over finff ancial reporting was
effeff ctive based on those criteria. The effectiveness of internal control over finff ancial reporting as of December 31, 2023 has
been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm,ff as stated in their report which is
included herein.

Management, including our CEO and CFO, does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedurd es, or our
internal control over finff ancial reporting will prevent all error and fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived
and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.
Further, the design of a control system must refleff ct the factff that there are resource constraints and the benefitff of controls
must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of
controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have not been any changes in our internal control over finff ancial reporting (as such term is defined in RulRR es
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended December 31, 2023 that have materially
affeff cted, or are reasonably likely to materially affeff ct, our internal control over finff ancial reporting. We have not experienced
any significant impact to our internal controls over finff ancial reporting despite the factff that a number of our employees and
independent contractors are still working remotely. The design of our processes and controls allow forff remote execution
with accessibility to secure data. Given the current environment, we are continually monitoring and assessing the design
and operating effectiveness on our internal controls.

Inherent Limitations on Effeff ctiveness of Controls

In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedurd es, management recognizes that any controls and
procedurd es, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired
control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedurd es must reflect the factff that there are resource
constraints and that management is required to appla y judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and
procedurd es relative to their costs. Internal control over finff ancial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving
financial reporting objectives because of the inherent limitations of any system of internal control. Internal control over
financial reporting is a process that involves human diligence and compliance and is subju ect to lapsa es of judgment and
breakdowns resulting from human failures. Internal control over finff ancial reporting also can be circumvented by collusion
or improper overriding of controls. As a result of such limitations, there is risk that material misstatements may not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis by internal control over finff ancial reporting. However, these inherent limitations are
known featff urtt es of the finff ancial reporting process. Thereforff e, it is possible to design into the process safeguards to reducdd e,
though not eliminate, this risk.

Item 9B. Other Information

Insider Adoption or Termination of Trading Arrangements

During the quarter ended December 31, 2023, none of our directors or officff ers informed us of the adoption or
termination of a “RulRR e 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as those terms are definff ed
in Regulation S-K, Item 408.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Offiff cers and Corporate Governance

Executive Offiff cers

The names and ages of our executive officers and directors as of February 2rr 7, 2024 are as folff lows:

Name Age Position(s)

Hessam Nadjid 58 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Steven F. DeGennaro 60 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offiff cer
John David Parker 43 Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Offiff cer, Eastern Division
Richard Matricaria 45 Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Offiff cer, Western Division
Gregory A. Lrr aBerge 53 Senior Vice President, Chief Administrative Officer

Hessam NadjiNN

Mr. Nadjid has served as President and Chief Executive Officff er and as a director of the Company since March 2016.
He previously served as Senior Executive Vice President and Chief Strategy Offiff cer. He joined the Company as Vice
President of Research in 1996 and held various other senior management roles through the years, including Chief
Marketing Officer and head of the Company’s specialty brokerage divisions. He launched the Company's IPA division and
played a leading role in the Company’s initial public offeriff ng in 2013. Mr. Nadjid received a B.S. in information
management and computer science froff m City University in Seattle and has over 35 years of experience working in the real
estate industry.rr

Steventt F. DeGennaro

Mr. DeGennaro has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since August 2020. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. DeGennaro held the position of Chief Financial Offiff cer at InTouch Health Inc., a venture-backed
telehealth company, from March 2018 to July 2020. Prior to that he served as Chief Financial Officer at Xirrus, Inc., a
manufactff urtt er of wireless networking products, froff m January 2004 to November 2017. He also served as Chief Financial
Offiff cer at Calix Networks, Inc. and Xircom, Inc. Mr. DeGennaro began his career at KPMG. Mr. DeGennaro holds a
B.B.A. in Accounting froff m the University of San Diego.

John David Parker

Mr. Parker has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, Eastern Division since June 2021.
Mr. Parker joined the Company in 2004 as a multifamily agent in the Manhattan office and transitioned to management in
2006. In 2007, Mr. Parker opened the Company's Brooklyn offiff ce and took over responsibility for the New York regional
offiff ces soon afteff rward. Mr. Parker was appointed Division Manager forff the Northeast in 2016 and has been instrumental in
driving the Company's expansion in Canada. Mr. Parker holds a bachelor’s degree in operations and information systems
management from Pennsylvania State University.

Richard MatMM ritt caria

Mr. Matricaria has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, Western Division since June
2021. Mr. Matricaria joined the Company in 2000 as a retail broker froff m 2002 to 2010 before moving to management in
2010. From 2010 to 2016, Mr. Matricaria opened officff es in Orlando and Tampa, and in 2016, Mr. Matricaria moved to
Chicago to oversee the Midwest Division. Mr. Matricaria relocated to the Company's headquarters in Calabasas in 2019 as
part of his expanded responsibilities. Mr. Matricaria received a B.B.A. in management from the University of Alabama and
earned an M.B.A. froff m St. Thomas University.

Gregory Ar . LaBerger

Mr. LaBerge has served as Senior Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer since 2015. Mr. LaBerge joined
the Company in 2005 as an investment broker, became a regional manager in 2008, and was named National Director of
our National Hospitality Group in 2012. Prior to that, he worked for 10 years as a management consultant, fivff e years with
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Ernst & Young LLP, and forff Diamond Technology Partners (now part of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP). His expertise was
in working with Fortune 500t companies on strategic and operational initiatives. Mr. LaBerge received his B.A. degree in
economics froff m Northwestern University and his M.B.A. from the Kelley School of Business at Indiana University.

Other Proxy Information

Certain information required by this Item regarding our Audit Committee is incorporated herein by reference to
information appea aring in our definitive Proxy Statement for ourff 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (“Proxy
Statement”), which information will appear under the caption entitled “Corporate Governance—Board Committees and
Charters.”

To comply with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, we will provide disclosure of delinquent Section 16(a) reports, if
any, in our Proxy Statement under the caption entitled “Other Matters—Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports” in the Proxy
Statement, and such disclosure, if any, is incorporated herein by reference.

Ethical Business Practices

We strive to conduct our business with integrity and the highest standards of ethics and governance that supporu t our
values. We do so by promoting faiff r labor practices, upholding humu an rights, and complying with legal requirements,
including those that address bribery and corruptu ion. We also implement policies, practices, and trainings that convey our
expectations and values and meet stakeholder needs.

As part of this effortff , we adopted a Code of Ethics. The Code of Ethics does not attempt to identify eff very possible
category orr f ethical and legal behavior, but instead sets forth the Company’s clear expectations for ethical and honest
behavior. The Company is committed to legal compliance, fair dealing, and addressing internal and external ethical
concerns, which it does in part through its Ethics Hotline, which allows for anonymous reporting and direct communication
with the Company’s compliance officer. The Company’s expectations for ethics are further embedded into the Company’s
practices through cross-discipline educd ation and trainings, which are provided at the individual, offiff ce, and Company-wide
levels.

The Code of Ethics can be foundff at https://ir// .marcusmillichap.com/corporate-governance/gov// ernance-documents
and clicking on “Code of Ethics.”

We intend to satisfy tff he disclosure requirements under Item 5.05(c) of Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or
waiver from, a provision of the Code of Ethics that applies to our principal executive officer, principal financial officff er,
principal accounting officer or controller or persons performing similar funcff tions by posting such information on our
website, at the address and location specified above.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is incorporr rated herein by reference to information appea aring in our Proxy
Statement, which information will appear under the caption entitled “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” and
“Executive Compensation” in the Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficff ial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item is incorporr rated herein by reference to information appea aring in our Proxy
Statement, which information will appear under the captions entitled “Principal Stockholders” in the Proxy statement.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes information about oura equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2023. All
outstanding awards relate to our common stock.

Plan Category

Number of
Securities
to be Issued
Upon

Exercise of
Outstanding
Options,

Warrants and
Rights(1)

Weighted-
Average Exercise

Price of
Outstanding
Options,

Warrants and
Rights (2)

Number of
Securities
Remaining
Available
for Future
Issuance

Under Equity
Compensation

Plans
(Excluding
Securities
Reflected in
Column
(a)) (3)

(a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 1,982,406 $ — 3,332,511
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders — — —

1,982,406 $ — 3,332,511

(1) Consists of restricted stock units (“RSUs”) granted under our 2013 Plan. Excludes restricted stock awards granted
under the 2013 Plan, purchase rights granted under the ESPP. Excludes 17,073 shares of restricted stock units
subju ect to the approvaa l of the revised 2013 Plan by the stockholders at the annual meeting of stockholders on May 2,
2024, which were previously approved by the Compensation Committee subject to shareholder approvaa l.

(2) Outstanding RSUs have no exercise price.
(3) Includes 3,221,417 shares availabla e forff future issuance under the 2013 Plan. Includes 111,094 shares availabla e forff

future issuance under the ESPP, including shares subju ect to purchase durd ing the current offeriff ng period, which
commenced on November 15, 2023 (the exact number of which will not be known until the purchase date on May
15, 2024). Subjeb ct to the number of shares remaining in the share reserve, the maximum number of shares
purchasable by any participant on any one purchase date forff any purchase period, including the current purchase
period, may not exceed 1,250 shares.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item is incorporr rated herein by reference to information appea aring in our Proxy
Statement, which information will appear under the captions entitled “Corporate Governance—Director Independence” and
“Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions” in the Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is incorporr rated herein by reference to information appea aring in our Proxy
Statement, which information will appear under the caption entitled “Proposal 2: Ratification of Appointment of
Independent Registered Publu ic Accounting Firm for 2024”ff in the Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following documents are fileff d as part of this Report:

(1) Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying Index to Consolidated Financial Statements
are attached to this Form 10-K beginning on page F-1.

Reports of Independent Registered Publu ic Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Loss) Income for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows forff the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(2) Financial Statement Scheduld es

The finff ancial statement scheduld es have been omitted because they are not applicable, or the information
required to be set forth therein is included in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(b) Exhibits

The folff lowing exhibits are included herein or incorporated herein by reference:

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Marcus & Millichap, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q (No. 001-36155) for the quarter ended September
30, 2013 filed on November 22, 2013).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Marcus & Millichap, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the
registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q (No. 001-36155) for the quarter ended September 30, 2013 filed on
November 22, 2013).

Specimen Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s registration statement on
Form S-1 (No. 333-191316) filed on September 23, 2013).

4.2 Description of the registrant’s securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (No. 001-36155)
for the year ended December 31, 2019 filed on March 2, 2020).

10.1 Transition Services Agreement by and between Marcus & Millichap, Inc. and Marcus & Millichap Company
dated October 31, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s quarterly report on Form
10-Q (No. 001-36155) for the quarter ended September 30, 2013 filed on November 22, 2013).

10.2† Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between Marcus & Millichap, Inc. and each of its Officers and
Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the registrant’s registration statement on Form S-1 (No.
333-191316) filed on September 23, 2013).

10.3† Amended and Restated 2013 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.6 to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (No. 001-36155) for the year ended December 31, 2017
filed on March 16, 2018).

10.4† Form of Stock Option Award Agreement under 2013 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.10 to the registrant’s registration statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-191316) filed on September 23,
2013).

Number Description
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10.5† Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under 2013 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the registrant’s registration statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-191316) filed on
September 23, 2013).

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under 2013 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the registrant’s registration statement on Form S-1/A (No. 333-191316) filed on
October 21, 2013).

10.7† Form of Amendment, Restatement and Freezing of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement (Section 409A
grandfathered) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the registrant’s registration statement on Form S-1
(No. 333-191316) filed on September 23, 2013).

10.8† 2013 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the registrant’s registration
statement on Form S-1/A (No. 333-191316) filed on October 28, 2013).

10.9† Executive Short-Term Incentive Plan, dated March 13, 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the
registrant’s current report on Form 8-K (No. 001-36155) filed on March 17, 2014).

10.10† Employment Agreement between the Company and Hessam Nadji effective as of March 31, 2016 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K/A (No. 001-36155) filed on April 8,
2016).

10.11† Marcus & Millichap, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q (No. 001-36155) for the quarter ended June 30, 2018 filed on August
9, 2018).

10.12 Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, between the Company and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association dated July 28, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s quarterly report on
Form 10-Q (No. 001-36155) filed on August 5, 2022).

10.13 First Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated September 25, 2023, by and
between Marcus & Millichap, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank National Association (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q (No. 001-36155) filed on November 3, 2023).

10.14† Employment Agreement between the Company and Steven F. DeGennaro effective as of August 4, 2020
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q (No. 001-36155) for
the quarter ended September 30, 2020 filed on November 9, 2020).

10.15† Change in Control Policy dated August 3, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s
quarterly report on Form 10-Q (No. 001-36155) for the quarter ended June 30, 2021 filed on August 6, 2021).

10.16† Amended & Restated Death & Disability Policy dated August 3, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
to the registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q (No. 001-36155) for the quarter ended June 30, 2021 filed on
August 6, 2021).

10.17† Employment Agreement by and between John David Parker and Marcus & Millichap, Inc., dated August 4, 2022
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q (No. 001-36155) for
the quarter ended June 20, 2022 filed on August 5, 2022).

10.18† Employment Agreement by and between Richard Matricaria and Marcus & Millichap, Inc., dated August 4,
2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q (No.
001-36155) for the quarter ended June 30, 2022 filed on August 5, 2022).

21.1* List of Subsidiaries.

23.1* Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Exchange Act, as adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Exchange Act, as adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1** Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

97* Restated Compensation Recovery Policy of Marcus & Millichap, Inc.

Number Description
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101* The folff lowing financial statements froff m the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K forff the year ended
December 31, 2023, formatted in Inline XBRL: (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) Consolidated Statements of
Operations, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Loss) Income, (iv) Consolidated Statements of
Stockholders’ Equity, (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, tagged as blocks of text and including detailed tags.

104* Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

Number Description

† Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
* Filed herewith.
** Furnished, not filed.

(c) Financial Statement Scheduld es

Not appla icable.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

Not appla icable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duldd y authorized.

Dated: February 27, 2024 Marcus & Millichap, Inc.

/s/ Hessam Nadjid
Hessam Nadjid
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Hessam Nadjid Director, President
and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

February 27, 2024
Hessam Nadjid

/s/ Steven F. DeGennaro Chief Financial Offiff cer
(Principal Financial Officer)

February 27, 2024
Steven F. DeGennaro

/s/ KurKK t H. Schwarz First Vice President of Finance
and Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

February 27, 2024
Kurt H. Schwarz

/s/ George M. Marcus Director February 27, 2024
George M. Marcus

/s/ Collete English Dixon Director February 27, 2024
Collete English Dixon

/s/ Norma J. Lawrence Director February 27, 2024
Norma J. Lawrence

/s/ Lauralee E. Martin Director February 27, 2024
Lauralee E. Martin

/s/ Nicholas F. McClanahan Director February 27, 2024
Nicholas F. McClanahan

/s/ George T. Shaheen Director February 27, 2024
George T. Shaheen

/s/ Don C. Watters Director February 27, 2024
Don C. Watters
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Marcus & Millichap, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Marcus & Millichap, Inc. (the Company) as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive (loss) income,
stockholders' equity and cash floff ws for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related
notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the finff ancial position of the Company at December 31, 2023 and 2022,
and the results of its operations and its cash floff ws for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Publu ic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over finff ancial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria
establa ished in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated February 27, 2024 expressed an unqualified opinion
thereon.

Basis forff Opinion

These finff ancial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the Company’s finff ancial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firff m registered with the PCAOB
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federalff securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance abouta whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether duedd to error or fraff ud. Our audits included performing procedurd es to assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether duedd to error or fraff ud, and performing procedurdd es that respond to those risks. Such procedurdd es
included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits
also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the finff ancial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising froff m the current period audit of the financial statements
that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or
disclosures that are material to the finff ancial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subju ective or complex
judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a
separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
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Defee rred commissions payable

Descripti ion of to het
Matter

At December 31, 2023, Company’s commissions payable to investment sales and financing
profesff sionals was $80.9 million. As discussed in Note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements, certain investment sales and financing professionals have the abia lity to earn
additional commissions afteff r meeting certain annual revenue thresholds. All commissions are
recognized as cost of services in the period in which they are earned as they relate to specific
transactions closed. The Company has the abia lity to defer payment of certain commissions, at its
election, for up to tu hree years. These payments are referred to as deferred commissions.

Auditing the Company’s deferff red commissions was complex with regard to evaluating the
completeness of the population of investment sales and financing professionals eligible for
deferred commissions and the accuracy of the investment sales and financing professionals’
revenue thresholds used in determining deferff red commissions earned.

How We AWW ddressed thet
Matter in Our Audit

We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of the Company’s internal
controls over the deferred commissions process. For example, we tested controls over the
completeness and accuracy of the data used in calculating the deferred commissions, including
approvals.

To test the deferff red commissions payable, we performed audit procedurd es that included, among
others, performing a predictive test in which we evaluated the completeness of the deferred
commissions schedule based on investment sales and financing professionals’ sales
performance. Additionally, we performed procedurdd es to obtain evidence of eligibility approval
and performed a hindsight analysis to evaluate the amount of cash disbursed to the amount of
deferred commissions payable previously accrued.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2013.

Los Angeles, Californiaff
February 27, 2024
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Marcus & Millichap, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Marcus & Millichap, Inc.’s (the Company) internal control over finff ancial reporting as of December 31,
2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, the Company
maintained, in all material respects, effeff ctive internal control over finff ancial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on
the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Publu ic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive (loss) income, stockholders' equity and cash floff ws for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes and our report dated February 27, 2024 expressed
an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis forff Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effeff ctive internal control over finff ancial reporting and for its
assessment of the effeff ctiveness of internal control over finff ancial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal
control over finff ancial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firff m registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federalff securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance abouta whether effective internal control over finff ancial reporting was maintained in
all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over finff ancial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk,
and performing such other procedurdd es as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliabia lity of financial reporting and the preparation of finff ancial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting includes those policies and
procedurd es that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and faiff rly refleff ct the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of finff ancial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the finff ancial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over finff ancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to futurff e periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedurdd es may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Los Angeles, Californiaff
February 27, 2024
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MARCUS &MILLICHAP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except forff shares and par value)

December 31,
2023 2022

Assets
Current assets:

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 170,753 $ 235,873
Commissions receivable 16,171 8,453
Prepaid expenses 8,813 9,411
Income tax receivable 9,299 8,682
Marketable debt securities, availabla e-for-sale (amortized cost of $169,018 and $254,682
at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, and $0 allowance forff
credit losses)

168,881 253,434

Advances and loans, net 3,574 4,005
Other assets, current 16,203 7,282

Total current assets 393,694 527,140
Property and equipment, net 27,450 27,644
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net 90,058 87,945
Marketable debt securities, available-for-sale (amortized cost of $69,538 and $72,819 at
December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, and $0 allowance forff credit
losses)

67,459 68,595

Assets held in rabbia trusrr t 10,838 9,553
Deferred tax assets, net 46,930 41,321
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net 51,183 55,696
Advances and loans, net 175,827 169,955
Other assets, non-current 14,972 15,859
Total assets $ 878,411 $ 1,003,708
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabia lities:

Accounts payable and accruerr d expenses $ 8,126 $ 11,450
Deferred compensation and commissions 55,769 75,321
Operating lease liabia lities 18,336 16,984
Accruerr d bonuses and other employee related expenses 19,119 38,327
Other liabia lities, current 3,919 9,933

Total current liabia lities 105,269 152,015
Deferred compensation and commissions 47,771 64,461
Operating lease liabia lities 69,407 65,109
Other liabia lities, non-current 10,690 8,614
Total liabia lities 233,137 290,199
Commitments and contingencies — —
Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value:
Authorized shares – 25,000,000; issued and outstanding shares – none at December
31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively — —

Common stock, $0.0001 par value:
Authorized shares – 150,000,000; issued and outstanding shares – 38,412,484 and
39,255,838 at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively 4 4

Additional paid-in capital 153,740 131,541
Retained earnings 492,298 585,581
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (768) (3,617)

Total stockholders’ equity 645,274 713,509
Total liabia lities and stockholders’ equity $ 878,411 $ 1,003,708

, ,

, ,
, , ,

, ,

, ,
, ,

( ) ( , )
, ,
, , ,

See accompanying notes to consolidatdd ed financial statements.tt
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MARCUS &MILLICHAP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATRR IONS

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Revenue:
Real estate brokerage commissions $ 559,752 $ 1,170,310 $ 1,170,969
Financing feeff s 66,898 112,978 109,690
Other revenue 19,277 18,422 15,781

Total revenue 645,927 1,301,710 1,296,440
Operating expenee ses:

Cost of services 406,645 850,894 840,209
Selling, general and administrative 285,023 300,009 255,154
Depreciation and amortization 13,627 13,406 11,721

Total operating expenses 705,295 1,164,309 1,107,084
Operating (loss) income (59,368) 137,401 189,356
Other income, net 19,855 5,336 4,527
Interest expense (888) (708) (580)
(Loss) income before (benefitff ) provision for income taxes (40,401) 142,029 193,303
(Benefit)ff provision for income taxes (6,366) 37,804 50,833
Net (loss) income $ (34,035) $ 104,225 $ 142,470

(Loss) earnings per share:
Basic $ (0.88) $ 2.61 $ 3.57
Diluted $ (0.88) $ 2.59 $ 3.55

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic 38,659 39,893 39,888
Diluted 38,659 40,186 40,187

( ) ( ) ( )

( )
( , ) , ,

See accompanying notes to consolidatdd ed financial statements.tt
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MARCUS &MILLICHAP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME

(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Net (loss) income $ (34,035) $ 104,225 $ 142,470
Othet r comprehensive income (loss):

Marketable debt securities, available-for-sale:
Change in net unrealized gains and losses 2,300 (4,565) (1,554)
Reclassification adjustment for neff t gains and losses included in other
income, net 142 (70) 72

Net change, net of tax of $813, $(1,559) and $(505) for the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively 2,442 (4,635) (1,482)

Foreign currency translation gain (loss), net of tax of $0 forff each of the years
ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively 407 108 (182)

Total other comprehensive income (loss) 2,849 (4,527) (1,664)
Comprehensive (loss) income $ (31,186) $ 99,698 $ 140,806

( ) ( )
( , ) , ,

See accompanying notes to consolidatdd ed financial statements.tt
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MARCUS &MILLICHAP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in thousands, except forff shares)

Series A
Redeemable

Preferred Stock Common Stock
Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
(Loss) Income TotalShares Amount Shares Amount

Balance as of December 31, 2020 — $ — 39,401,976 $ 4 $ 113,182 $ 431,076 $ 2,574 $ 546,836
Net and comprehensive income (loss) — — — — — 142,470 (1,664) 140,806
Stock-based award activity:
Stock-based compensation — — — — 10,361 — — 10,361
Issuance of common stock pursuant
to employee stock purchase plan — — 20,152 — 653 — — 653

Issuance of common stock for
settlement of deferred stock units — — 60,373 — — — — —

Issuance of common stock for
vesting of restricted stock units — — 260,525 — — — — —

Issuance of common stock for
unvested restricted stock awards — — 13,323 — — — — —

Shares withheld related to net share
settlement of stock-based awards — — (91,457) — (3,352) — — (3,352)

Issuance of common stock forff stock
settled deferred consideration — — 27,481 — 1,000 — — 1,000

Balance as of December 31, 2021 — — 39,692,373 4 121,844 573,546 910 696,304
Net and comprehensive income (loss) — — — — — 104,225 (4,527) 99,698
Dividends — — — — — (62,572) — (62,572)
Stock-based award activity:
Stock-based compensation — — — — 17,312 — — 17,312
Issuance of common stock pursuant
to employee stock purchase plan — — 19,813 — 709 — — 709

Issuance of common stock for
settlement of deferred stock units — — 281,193 — — — — —

Issuance of common stock for
vesting of restricted stock units — — 292,953 — — — — —

Issuance of common stock for
unvested restricted stock awards — — 11,494 — — — — —

Shares withheld related to net share
settlement of stock-based awards — — (206,390) — (9,741) — — (9,741)

Issuance of common stock forff stock
settled deferred consideration — — 28,673 — 1,417 — — 1,417

Repurchases of common stock — — (864,271) — — (29,618) — (29,618)
Balance as of December 31, 2022 — — 39,255,838 4 131,541 585,581 (3,617) 713,509
Net and comprehensive (loss) income — — — — — (34,035) 2,849 (31,186)
Dividends — — — — (20,372) — (20,372)
Stock-based award activity:
Stock-based compensation — — — — 24,146 — — 24,146
Issuance of common stock pursuant
to employee stock purchase plan — — 25,818 — 661 — — 661

Issuance of common stock for
vesting of restricted stock units — — 453,986 — — — — —

Issuance of common stock for
unvested restricted stock awards — — 17,339 — — — — —

Shares withheld related to net share
settlement of stock-based awards — — (138,451) — (4,441) — — (4,441)

Issuance of common stock forff stock
settled deferred consideration — — 58,205 — 1,833 — — 1,833

Repurchases of common stock — — (1,260,251) — — (38,876) — (38,876)
Balance as of December 31, 2023 — $ — 38,412,484 $ 4 $ 153,740 $ 492,298 $ (768) $ 645,274

See accompanying notes to consolidatdd ed financial statements.tt
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Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Cash flows froff m operating activities
Net (loss) income $ (34,035) $ 104,225 $ 142,470
Adjud stments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash used in operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization 13,627 13,406 11,721
Non-cash lease expense 26,348 23,112 23,729
Credit loss expense (recovery) (128) (51) 166
Stock-based compensation 24,146 17,312 10,361
Deferred taxes, net (6,429) (6,073) (11,845)
Unrealized foreign exchange losses (gains) (37) 534 3,824
Net realized losses (gains) on marketable debt securities, available-
for-sale 190 (86) (219)

Other non-cash items (341) (973) 641
Changes in operating assets and liabia lities:

Commissions receivable (7,590) 8,445 (10,832)
Prepaid expenses 599 3,802 (3,066)
Advances and loans (5,177) (54,818) (12,382)
Other assets (7,208) (9,830) (3,046)
Accounts payable and accruerr d expenses (2,960) (4,071) 9,779
Income tax receivable and payabla e (616) (26,535) 14,128
Accruerr d bonuses and other employee related expenses (19,182) (11,491) 29,073
Deferred compensation and commissions (35,846) (24,631) 75,047
Operating lease liabia lities (18,364) (21,176) (21,276)
Other liabia lities 573 2,528 (2,370)

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (7( 2,430) 13,629 255,903)
Cash flows froff m investing activities
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash received — (12,500) 229
Purchases of marketabla e debt securities, availabla e-for-sale (302,283) (380,799) (378,106)
Proceeds froff m sales and maturt ities of marketabla e debt securities,
availabla e-for-sale 391,612 350,993 285,628

Purchases of convertible notes (5,000) — —
Purchases of securities, held-to-maturity — — (9,500)
Issuances of employee notes receivable (126) (74) (40)
Payments received on employee notes receivable 34 71 290
Purchase of property and equipment (9,370) (11,666) (6,857)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 74,867 (5( 3,975)) (1( 08,356))
Cash flows froff m finff ancing activities
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of stock-based awards (4,441) (9,741) (3,352)
Proceeds froff m issuance of shares pursuant to employee stock
purchase plan 661 709 653

Dividends paid (20,103) (60,358) —
Principal payments on stock appreciation rights liabia lity (1,945) (1,761) (1,481)
Principal payments on deferff red and contingent consideration (2,410) (5,351) (1,739)
Cash paid for stock repurchases (39,441) (29,053) —

Net cash used in finff ancing activities (67,679) (105,555) (5,919)
Effeff ct of currency exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and
restricted cash 122 (366) (2,640)

Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (65,120) (146,267) 138,988
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period 235,873 382,140 243,152
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period $ 170,753 $ 235,873 $ 382,140

See accompanying notes to consolidatdd ed financial statements.tt
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Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Interest paid during the period $ 478 $ 614 $ 749
Income taxes paid, net $ 674 $ 69,847 $ 48,563
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating
lease liabia lities $ 22,276 $ 21,770 $ 23,662

Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing and finff ancing
activities:
Unpaid purchases of property and equipment $ 257 $ 684 $ 406
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease
liabia lities $ 28,306 $ 27,027 $ 19,981

Issuance of stock forff the settlement of deferred consideration $ 1,833 $ 1,417 $ 1,000
Dividend payable $ 923 $ 2,215 $ —

See accompanying notes to consolidatdd ed financial statements.tt
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1. Description of Business and Basis of Presentation

Description of Business

Marcus & Millichap, Inc. (the “Company,” “Marcus & Millichap,” or “MMI”), a Delaware corporation, is a real
estate services firm specializing in commercial real estate investment sales, financing services, research and advisory
services. As of December 31, 2023, MMI operates over 80 officff es in the United States and Canada through its wholly-
owned subsidiaries, including the operations of Marcus & Millichap Ca apital Corporation.

Reorganizatiott n and Initial Public OffeO ringii

MMI was forff med in June 2013 in preparation forff Marcus & Millichap Ca ompany (“MMC”) to spin-off its majority-
owned subsidiary, Marcus & Millichap Ra eal Estate Investment Services, Inc. (“MMREIS”). Prior to the initial public
offeriff ng (“IPO”) of MMI, all of the preferred and common stockholders of MMREIS (including MMC and employees of
MMREIS) contributed all of their outstanding shares to MMI, in exchange for new MMI common stock. As a result,
MMREIS became a wholly-owned subsu idiary of MMI. Thereafteff r, MMC distributed 80.0% of the shares of MMI common
stock to MMC’s shareholders and exchanged the remaining portion of its shares of MMI common stock for cancellation of
indebtedness of MMC. MMI completed its IPO on November 5, 2013.

Basis of Presentation

The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”). The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its
wholly-owned subsu idiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

2. Accounting Policies and Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Accounting Policies

Cash, CasCC h Equivalenll ts, as nd Restricted Cash

The Company considers cash equivalents to include short-term, highly liquid investments with maturities of three
months or less when purchased. Portions of the balance of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash were held in finff ancial
institutions, various money market fundsff with fixed and floating net asset values and short-term commercial paper. Money
market funds have floating net asset values and may be subject to liquidity fees. The Company assesses short-term
commercial paper for impairment in connection with investments in marketabla e debt securities, availabla e-for-sale. The
likelihood of realizing material losses froff m cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, including the excess of cash
balances over fedff erally insured limits, is remote.

Revenue Recogno itiontt

The Company generates real estate brokerage commissions by acting as a broker forff real estate owners or investors
seeking to buy or sell interests in commercial properties and generates finff ancing fees from securing financing on purchase
transactions, froff m refinff ancing its clients’ existing mortgage debt and other ancillary fees associated with financing
activities, including, but not limited to, debt and equity advisory services, loan sales, due did ligence services, loan guarantee
fees, loan performance fees and other consulting.

Real Estate Brokerkk age Commissiii ons

Contracts forff representing buyers and sellers of real estate are negotiated on a transaction-by-transaction basis. The
consideration associated with the successful outff come remains constrained until the completion of a transaction which
happens at the close of escrow. At that time, the Company's performance is complete.

Financing FeesFF
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Contracts forff representing potential borrowers are negotiated on a transaction-by-transaction basis. The consideration
associated with the successful outff come remains constrained until the completion of a transaction which happens at the time
the loan closes. At that time, the Company recognizes revenue related to the transaction. The Company’s fee arff rangements,
with an exception for guaff rantee obligations, do not include terms or conditions that require the Company to perform any
service or fulff fill any obligation once the loan closes.

Loan Perforff mance FeesFF - For loans originated through the Strategic Alliance ("Strategic Alliance") with M&T Realty
Capia tal Corporation ("MTRCC"), the Company receives variabla e consideration in the form of loan performance fees based
on a portion of the servicing feeff s expected to be received by MTRCC under the servicing contract for servicing the loan.
As the Company is not obligated to perform any servicing functions and has no further obligations related to the transaction
giving rise to the loan performance fees, the estimated value of the loan performance fees to be received is recorded at the
time the loan closes and are collected over the estimated term of the related loan. Any changes in the estimate of loan
performance fees to be received are recorded in revenue in the period the estimate changes.

Guarantee Obligati ions - For certain loans originated through the Strategic Alliance with MTRCC, the Company may
agree, at its option, to indemnify Mff TRCC for a portion of MTRCC’s obligations for loans sold to the Federal National
Mortgage Association ("Fannie Mae"). For these loans, the Company allocates a portion of the transaction price and
records a loan guarantee obligation based on its fair value. Revenue for this stand ready obligation is recorded on a straight-
line basis over the term of the estimated guarantee period and is recorded in finff ancing fees in the consolidated statements of
operations. The guarantee obligation is capped at 16.7% of any unpaid principal balance in excess of the value of the
collateral securing such loan. For these loans, the Company is required to pledge cash in a restricted bank account in
supporu t of the guarantee obligation. The Company records an allowance for estimated losses related to the loans subju ect to
the guarantee considering the risk characteristics of the loan, the loan's risk rating, historical loss experience, potential
adverse situations affeff cting individual loans and other forecasted information as appropra iate.

Othett r Revenue

Other revenue includes feesff generated froff m consulting and advisory services, leasing, as well as referral feeff s fromff
other real estate brokers, and such fees are recognized when services are provided, upon closing of the transaction or when
the Company has no furff ther obligations.

Capia taliii zaii tion of Io ntII ertt nal SofSS twff are

Certain costs related to the development or purchase of internal-use softwff are are capitalized. Internal costs that are
incurred in the preliminary project stage are expensed as incurred. Direct consulting costs and certain payroll and related
costs that are incurred durd ing the development stage of a projeo ct are capitalized and depreciated using the straight-line
method over a usefulff life off f fivff e years. Capia talized costs are recorded in property and equipment, net, and amortization is
recorded in depreciation and amortization in the consolidated financial statements. Amortization begins forff software that
has been placed into production and is ready forff its intended use. Post-implementation costs such as training, maintenance
and support are expensed as incurred. The Company evaluates the carrying value of capitalized software for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverabla e.

Commissions Receivable,ll Net

Commissions receivable, net consists of commissions earned on brokerage and finff ancing transactions for which
payment has not yet been received. The Company evaluates the need forff an allowance forff credit losses based on
consideration of historical experience, current conditions and forff ecasts of future economic conditions. The majority of
commissions earned are settled within 10 days afteff r the close of escrow. Certain commissions for leasing transactions are
received upon ocu cupancy.u

Advadd nces and Loans, Net

Advances and loans, net includes amounts advanced and loans due from the Company’s investment sales and
financing professionals.
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In order to attract and retain highly skilled professionals, froff m time to time the Company advances funds to its
investment sales and financing professionals. The advances are typically in the forff m of forgivablff e loans that have terms
that are generally between 5 and 10 years. The principal amount of a forgivablff e loan and accruerr d interest are forgiven over
the term of the loan, so long as the investment sales and financing professionals continue to be a service provider with the
Company, and/or upon achieving contractuat l performance criteria. These amounts are charged to selling, general and
administrative expense over the service period. If the investment sales and financing professional’s relationship with the
Company is terminated beforff e the amount advanced is forgiven, the unforgiven amount, and any accruerr d interest, becomes
due and payable. The Company evaluates the need for an allowance forff credit losses based on amounts advanced, expected
forgiveness, consideration of historical experience, current conditions and forff ecasts of future economic conditions.
Estimated credit losses, net of any reversals, are charged to credit loss expense included in selling, general and
administrative expense. Amounts are generally written off wff hen amounts are determined to be no longer collectable.

The Company, from time to time, also enters into various agreements, including notes receivable, with certain of its
investment sales and financing professionals whereby these individuals receive loans that are to be repaid in the futurff e. The
notes receivable, along with stated interest, are typically collected froff m futurff e commissions or repaid based on the terms
stipulated in the respective agreements that are generally between one and seven years. The Company evaluates the need
for an allowance forff credit losses forff the loans based on historical experience, current conditions and reasonable foreff casts
of future economic conditions. Estimated credit losses, net of any reversals, are charged to credit loss expense included in
selling, general and administrative expense. Amounts are generally written off when amounts are determined to be no
longer collectable.

Cost of Services

Cost of services principally consists of variable commissions, compensation-related costs related to the Company’s
financing activities, and other costs for the Company’s investment sales and financing professionals related to transactions
closed in the period. Commissions are accruerr d based on revenue from transactions generated by the Company’s investment
sales and financing professionals. Investment sales and financing professionals are compensated at commission rates based
on individual agreements, and a portion of the commissions due upon the closing of a transaction may be deferred in
accordance with their contracts. Some of the Company's most senior investment sales and financing professionals also have
the abia lity to earn additional commissions afteff r meeting certain annual finff ancial thresholds. These additional commissions
are recognized as cost of services in the period in which they are earned. Payment of a portion of these additional
commissions are generally deferred forff a period of three years, at our election, and paid at the end of the third calendar
year. These deferred commissions are included in deferff red compensation and commissions (current and non-current)
captions in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Cost of services also includes referral feesff paid to other real
estate brokers where we are the principal service provider.

Investments itt n Mii arkeMM table Dll ebt SecSS urities, Availaii ble-ll fo- r-Sa- le

The Company maintains a portfolff io of investments in a variety of fixff ed and variabla e rate debt securities, including
U.S. treasuries, U.S. government sponsored entities, corporate debt, asset-backed securities (“ABS”) and other. The
Company considers its investments in marketabla e debt securities to be availabla e-for-sale, and accordingly, are recorded at
their faiff r values. The Company determines the appropra iate classification of investments in marketabla e debt securities at the
time of purchase. Interest along with amortization of purchase premiums and accretion of discounts froff m the purchase date
through the estimated maturt ity date, including consideration of variabla e maturt ities and contractuatt l call provisions, are
included in other income, net in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company typically invests in highly rated
debt securities, and its investment policy generally limits the amount of credit exposure to any one issuer. The policy
requires substantially all investments to be investment grade, with the primary objective of minimizing the potential risk of
principal loss and matching long-term liabia lities. See Note 5 – “Investments in Marketabla e Debt Securities, Availabla e-for-
Sale” forff additional information.

The Company reviews quarterly its investment portfolff io of all securities in an unrealized loss position to determine
if an impairment charge or credit reserve is required. The Company excludes accruerr d interest froff m both the fair value and
the amortized cost basis of marketabla e debt securities, available-forff -sale, for the purposes of identifyingff and measuring an
impairment. An investment is impaired if the fair value is less than its amortized cost basis. Impairment relating to credit
losses is recorded through a reducdd tion in the amortized cost of the security or an allowance forff credit losses and credit loss
expense (included in selling, general and administrative expense), limited by the amount that the faiff r value is less than the
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amortized cost basis. Impairment that has not been recorded as a credit loss is recorded through other comprehensive (loss)
income, net of applicable taxes. The Company made an accounting policy election to not measure an allowance forff credit
losses forff accruerr d interest receivables. The Company evaluates write-off of aff ccruerr d interest receivable at the time credit
loss exists for the underlying security.

Determining whether a credit loss exists requires a high degree of judgment and the Company considers both
qualitative and quantitative facff tors in making its determination. The Company evaluates its intent to sell, or whether the
Company will more likely than not be required to sell, the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis. For all
securities in an unrealized loss position, the Company evaluates, among other items, the extent and length of time the fairff
market value of a security is less than its amortized cost, time to maturity, durd ation, seniority, the financial condition of the
issuer including credit ratings, any changes thereto and relative defauff lt rates, leverage ratios, availabia lity of liquidity to
make principal and interest payments, performance indicators of the underlying assets, analyst reports and
recommendations, and changes in base and market interest rates. If the qualitative and quantitative analysis is sufficff ient to
conclude that an impairment related to credit losses does not exist, the Company typically does not perform further
quantitative analysis to estimate the present value of cash floff ws expected to be collected from the debt security. Estimates
of expected future cash floff ws are the Company’s best estimate based on past events, current conditions and reasonable and
supporu tabla e economic forecasts.

Assets Held in Rabbi Trust

The Company maintains a non-qualified deferred compensation program for certain employees. Deferred amounts
are invested in variable whole life iff nsurance policies owned by the Company supporu ting the deferred obligation and are
held in a rabbi trusrr t. Participants elect to invest in various hypothetical equity and debt securities offered within the plan on
a notional basis. The net change in the carrying value of the underlying assets held in the rabbi trusrr t is recorded in other
income, net. The change in the deferred compensation liabia lity as a result of the change in the notional value of the
participants accounts is recorded as a component of selling, general and administrative expense in the consolidated
statements of operations.

Fair Value MeaMM surements

U.S. GAAP defines the fair value of a financial instrumrr ent as the amount that would be received froff m the sale of an
asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The Company is responsible for the
determination of faiff r value and the supporu ting methodologies and assumptions. The Company uses various pricing sources
and third parties to provide and validate the values utilized.

The degree of judgment used in measuring the fair value of finff ancial instruments is generally inversely correlated
with the level of observable valuation inputs. Financial instrumrr ents with quoted prices in active markets generally have
more pricing observability and less judgment is used in measuring faiff r value. Financial instruments forff which no quoted
prices are availabla e have less observability and are measured at fair value using valuation models or other pricing
techniques that require more judgment.

Assets recorded at fair value are measured and classified in accordance with a faiff r value hierarchy consisting of the
three “levels” based on the observability of inputs availabla e in the marketplt ace used to measure the fair values as discussed
below:

• Level 1: Unadjud sted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date forff identical,
unrestricted assets or liabilities;

• Level 2: Quoted prices in markets that are not active, or inputs which are observable, either directly or
indirectly, forff subsu tantially the full term of the asset or liabia lity; or

• Level 3: Unobservable inputs refleff ct management’s best estimate of what market participants would use in
pricing the asset or liabia lity at the measurement date. Consideration is given to the risk inherent in the
valuation technique and the risk inherent in the inputs to the model. Management estimates include certain
pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques that use significant unobservable
inputs.
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Recurring Fair Value MeaMM surements

The Company values its investments including commercial paper and floff ating net asset value money market funff ds
recorded in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, investments in marketabla e debt securities, availabla e-for-sale, assets
held in the rabbi trusrr t, deferred compensation liabia lity, contingent and deferred consideration and investments in
convertible notes at faiff r value on a recurring basis.

Fair values for investments included in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash and marketable debt securities,
availabla e-for-sale, were determined for each individual security in the investment portfolff io and all these securities are
Level 1 or 2 measurements as appropriate.

Fair values for assets held in the rabbi trusrr t and related deferff red compensation liabia lity were determined based on the
cash surrender value of the Company owned variabla e life iff nsurance policies and underlying investments in the trusrr t, and
are Level 2 and Level 1 measurements, respectively.

Contingent consideration in connection with acquisitions, is carried at fair value and determined on a contract-by-
contract basis, calculated using unobservable inputs based on a probability of achieving EBITDA and other performance
requirements (refer to Note 9 – “Fair Value Measurements”), and is a Level 3 measurement. Deferred consideration in
connection with acquisitions is carried at fair value and calculated using a discounted cash floff w estimate with the only
remaining condition on such payments being the passage of time, and is a Level 2 measurement.

We have elected to account for our investments in convertible notes, included in other assets, under the fair value
option, with changes in faiff r value recognized in other income, net in the consolidated statement of operations. We estimate
the faiff r value of each convertible note at each balance sheet date using a scenario-based framework that incorporates
various scenarios weighted based on the expected likelihood of occurrence. Within each scenario, a discounted cash flow
approach was utilized, taking the expected settlement for the event, and discounting it based on the expected timing and a
discount rate. Each of the assumptions in the model were considered significant assumptions. We noted that a change in the
expected probability, expected payoff,ff timing, or discount rate, would result in a change to the faiff r value ascribed to the
convertible notes. As these are significant inputs not observable in the market, the valuation is classified as a Level 3
measurement.

Nonrecurring Fair Value MeaMM surements

In accordance with U.S. GAAP, froff m time to time, the Company measures certain assets at fair value on a
nonrecurring basis. The Company reviews the carrying value of intangibles, goodwill and other assets for indications of
impairment at least annually. When indications of potential impairment are identified, the Company may be required to
determine the fair value of those assets and record an adjud stment for the carrying amount in excess of the fair value
determined. Any fair value determination would be based on valuation approaa ches, which are appropra iate under the
circumstances and utilize Level 2 and Level 3 measurements as required.

Assets and Liabilities not Measured at Fair Value

The Company’s commissions receivable, amounts dued from employees and investment sales and financing
profesff sionals (included in the other assets, current and other assets, non-current captions), accounts payable and other
liabia lities and commissions payable (included in deferred compensation and commissions, current and deferred
compensation and commissions, non-current captions) are carried at cost, which approximates faiff r value based on their
immediate or short-term maturities and terms which approximate current market rates.

The Company’s obligations under stock appra eciation rights (“SARs”) liabia lity (included in the deferred
compensation and commissions, current and deferff red compensation and commissions, non-current captions) bear interest at
a variabla e rate based on U.S. Treasuries, and the Company has determined that the carrying value approximates their fair
value.
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Property att nd Equipmii ent, Net

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. The Company uses the
straight-line method for depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization is recorded over estimated useful
lives ranging from three to seven years.

The Company evaluates its fixed assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverabla e.

Othett r Assets

Other assets consist primarily of securities, held-to-maturity, investments in convertible notes, loan performance fee
receivable, security deposits made in connection with operating leases, customer trust accounts, employee notes receivable
and other assets and receivables. In connection with a brokerage transaction, the Company may need to, or be required to,
hold cash in escrow forff a transaction participant. These amounts are deposited into separate customer trust accounts
controlled by the Company. The amounts are included in current other assets, net, with a corresponding liabia lity included in
accounts payable and other liabilities, both in the consolidated balance sheets.

Leases

The Company utilizes operating leases for all its facilities and autos. The Company determines if an arrangement is a
lease at inception. Right-of-use assets (“ROU assets”) represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset forff the
lease term and lease liabia lities represent the Company’s contractuat l obligation to make lease payments under the lease.
Operating leases are included in operating lease ROU assets, and operating lease liabia lities, current and non-current
captions in the consolidated balance sheets.

ROU assets and liabilities are recognized on the commencement date based on the present value of lease payments
over the lease term. Lease agreements may contain periods of free rent or reduced rent, predetermined fixed increases in
the minimum rent and renewal or termination options, all of which add complexity and impact the determination of the
lease term and lease payments to be used in calculating the lease liabia lity. Certain facility leases provide for rental
escalations related to increases in the lessors’ direct operating expenses. The Company uses the implicit rate in the lease
when determinable. As most of the Company’s leases do not have a determinable implicit rate, the Company uses an
estimated incremental borrowing rate calculated on a spread over treasuries based on our estimated credit rating forff the
indicated term of the lease based on the information available on the commencement date of the lease. The Company
typically leases general purpose built-out offiff ce space, which reverts to the lessor uponu termination of the lease. Any
payments for completed improvements, determined to be owed by the lessor, net of incentives received, are recorded as an
increase to the ROU asset and considered in the determination of the lease cost.

The Company has lease agreements with lease and non-lease components, which are accounted for as a single lease
component. Lease cost is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments consist of
common area costs, insurance, taxes, utilities, parking and other lease related costs, which are determined principally based
on billings from landlords. Sub-lease income is recorded as a component of selling general and administrative expense in
the consolidated statements of operations.

Litigii ationtt

The Company is subju ect to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business, some
of which involve claims for damages that are substantial in amount. Most of these litigation matters are covered by
insurance, which contain deducd tibles, exclusions, claim limits and aggregate policy limits. While the ultimate liabia lity for
these legal proceedings cannot be determined, the Company uses judgment in the evaluation of claims and the need for
accruarr l forff loss contingencies quarterly. The Company records an accruarr l forff litigation related losses where the likelihood
of loss is both probable and estimabla e. The Company accrues legal feesff for litigation as the legal services are provided.
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Adverdd tising CosCC ts

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs are included in selling, general and administrative
expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Advertising costs for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 were $1,892,000, $1,653,000, and
$830,000 respectively.

Income Taxesaa

The Company accounts forff income taxes under the asset and liabia lity method. The Company recognizes deferred tax
assets and liabia lities for the future tax consequences attributable to (i) differeff nces between the finff ancial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabia lities and their respective tax basis, and (ii) operating losses and tax credit
carryforwards. The Company measures existing deferff red tax assets and liabia lities using enacted tax rates expected to apply
to taxable income in the years in which the Company expects to have temporary drr iffereff nces realized or settled. The
Company recognizes in the (benefit) provision for income taxes, the effeff ct on deferred tax assets and liabia lities of a change
in tax rates in the period that includes the enactment date. The Company periodically evaluates deferred tax assets to assess
whether it is likely that the deferred tax assets will be realized. In determining whether a valuation allowance is required,
the Company considers the timing of deferred tax reversals, current year taxable income and historical performance.
Valuation allowances are provided against deferred tax assets when it is more-likely-than-not that some portion or all of the
deferred tax asset will not be realized.

Because of the nature of the Company’s business, which includes activity in the U.S. and Canada, incorporating
numerous states and provinces as well as local jurisdictions, the Company’s tax position can be complex. As such, the
Company’s effective tax rate is subju ect to changes as a result of fluctuations in the mix of its activity in the various
jurisdictions in which the Company operates including changes in tax rates, state appora tionment, tax related interest and
penalties, valuation allowances and other permanent items. Calculating some of the amounts involves a high degree of
judgment.

The Company evaluates its tax positions quarterly. The threshold forff recognizing the benefitsff of tax returtt n positions
in the finff ancial statements is “more likely than not” to be sustained by the taxing authority and requires measurement of a
tax position meeting the more-likely-than-not criterion, based on the largest benefit thff at is more than 50% likely to be
realized. The Company assesses its inventory orr f tax positions with respect to all appla icable income tax issues for all open
tax years (in each respective jurisdiction) and determines whether uncertain tax positions are required to be recognized in
the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties incurred as income tax expense.

Stock-tt Ba- sed CompeCC nsationtt

The Company measures and records compensation expense forff all stock-based awards made to employees,
independent contractors and non-employee directors. Awards are issued under the Amended and Restated 2013 Omnibus
Equity Incentive Plan (“2013 Plan”) and 2013 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”).

For awards made to the Company’s employees, directors and independent contractors, the Company initially values
restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and restricted stock awards (“RSAs”) based on the grant date closing price of the
Company’s common stock. For awards with periodic vesting, the Company recognizes the related expense on a straight-
line basis over the requisite service period forff the entire award, subject to periodic adjustments to ensure that the
cumulative amount of expense recognized through the end of any reporting period is at least equal to the portion of the
grant date value of the award that has vested through that date. The Company accounts forff forfeitures as they occur.

For shares issued under the ESPP, the Company determined that the plan was a compensatory prr lan and is required to
expense the fair value of the awards over each six-month offering period. The Company estimates the fair value of these
awards using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Company calculates the expected volatility based on the
historical volatility of the Company’s common stock, the risk-freff e interest rate based on the U.S. Treasury yrr ield curve in
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effeff ct at the time of grant, both consistent with the term of the offeriff ng period. The Company includes a dividend yield
based on the recurring semi-annual dividend. The Company accounts forff forfeitures as they occur.

Earnings per ShaSS re

Basic weighted average shares outstanding includes vested, but unissued, deferred stock units (“DSUs”). The
difference between basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding represents the dilutive impact of common stock
equivalents consisting of shares to be issued under the 2013 Plan and ESPP, and contingently issuable shares in connection
with stock settled consideration forff acquired businesses.

Foreign Cgg urCC rency Tc raTT nslation

The Company prepares the finff ancial statements of its Canadian subsidiary using the local currency as the functional
currency. The assets and liabia lities of the Company’s Canadian subsidiary are translated into U.S. dollars at the rates of
exchange at the balance sheet date with the resulting translation adjustments included as a separate component of
stockholder’s equity through other comprehensive income (loss) in the consolidated statements of comprehensive (loss)
income.

Income and expenses are translated at the average monthly rates of exchange. The Company includes gains and
losses froff m forff eign currency transactions in other income, net in the consolidated statements of operations.

The effect of foreign currency translation on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash is refleff cted in cash floff ws
from operating activities on the consolidated statements of cash flows, and is not material for any period presented.

Taxeaa s ColCC lell cted from Cliell nts att nd Remitted to Gtt ovG ernmental Authoritiesii

The Company accounts forff tax assessed by any governmental authority that is based on revenue or transaction value
(e.g. sales, use and value added taxes) on a net basis, and, accordingly, such amounts are not included in revenue. Collected
amounts are recorded as a current liabia lity until paid.

Use of Eo stEE imatt tes

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affeff ct the reported amounts of assets and liabia lities and the related disclosures at the date of
the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could diffeff r froff m those estimates.

Concentratiott ns of Creditdd Riskii

Financial instrumrr ents that potentially subju ect the Company to a concentration of credit risk principally consist of
cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, investments in marketabla e debt securities, availabla e-for-sale, investments in
strategic alliance partners (included in other assets), security deposits (included under other assets, non-current), and
commissions receivable, net. Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash are placed with high-credit quality financial
institutions and invested in high-credit quality money market fundsff and commercial paper. Concentrations and ratings of
investments in marketabla e debt securities, availabla e-for-sale are limited by the approved investment policy.

To reduce its credit risk, the Company monitors the credit standing of the finff ancial institutions money market fundsff
that represent amounts recorded as cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash. The Company historically has not
experienced any significant losses related to cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash.

The Company has entered into a Strategic Alliance with MTRCC pursuant to which the Company has agreed to
provide loan opportunities that may be fundeff d through MTRCC’s Delegated Underwriting and Servicing Agreement
(“DUS Agreement”) with Fannie Mae that requires MTRCC to guarantee a portion of each loan funded. On a loan-by-loan
basis, the Company, at its option, can indemnify aff portion of MTRCC’s guarantee obligation of loan opportunities
presented to and closed by MTRCC though the DUS Agreement. The Company manages and limits the concentration of
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risk related to the guarantees assumed by monitoring the underlying property type, geographic location, credit of the
borrowers, underlying debt service coverage, and loan to value ratios.

The Company derives its revenue from a broad range of real estate investors, owners, and users in the United States
and Canada, none of which individually represents a significant concentration of credit risk. The Company maintains
allowances, as needed, for estimated credit losses based on management’s assessment of the likelihood of collection. For
the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, no transaction represented 10% or more of total revenue. Further,
while one or more transactions may represent 10% or more of commissions receivable at any reporting date, amounts dued
are typically collected within 10 days of settlement and, thereforff e, do not expose the Company to significant credit risk.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company’s Canadian operations represented approxia mately 4% of
total revenue. During each of the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company’s Canadian operations
represented 2% of total revenue.

During each of the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, no offiff ce represented 10% or more of total
revenue.

Busineii ss Combinatiott ns

The Company accounts for busff iness combinations using the acquisition method of accounting, under which the
consideration forff the acquisition, including the faiff r value of any contingent and deferred consideration, is allocated to the
assets acquired and liabia lities assumed. The Company recognizes identifiabla e assets acquired and liabia lities assumed at
their acquisition date faiff r values as determined by management as of the acquisition date. The excess of the consideration
over the assets acquired net of liabilities assumed is recognized as goodwill. During the measurement period, which is not
to exceed one year from the acquisition date, the Company may record adjud stments to the assets acquired and liabia lities
assumed, with the corresponding offsff et to goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period, any subsequent
adjud stments are recorded as expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

In connection with certain acquisitions, the Company enters into agreements to pay additional cash amounts based
on the achievement of certain performance measures and/or service and time requirements. Contingent and deferred
consideration in connection with the acquisition of a business is measured at fair value on the acquisition date and
remeasured at fair value each reporting period thereafteff r until the consideration is settled in cash or stock, with changes in
fair value recorded in selling, general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

Acquisition-related costs, such as due did ligence, legal and accounting feesff , are expensed as incurred and not
considered in determining the fair value of the acquired assets. Acquisition-related costs are refleff cted in selling, general
and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Company evaluates goodwill forff impairment annually in the fourff th quarter. In addition to the annual
impairment evaluation, the Company evaluates at least quarterly whether events or circumstances have occurred in the
period subsu equent to the annual impairment testing which indicate that it is more likely than not an impairment loss has
occurred. The initial impairment evaluation of goodwill is a qualitative assessment and is performed to assess whether the
fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. The Company completes a quantitative impairment test if
evidence from the qualitative assessment indicates that it is more likely than not that the faiff r value of the reporting unit is
less than its carrying amount. If the Company determines the quantitative impairment test is required, the estimated fairff
value of the reporting unit is determined and compared to its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the carrying amount
exceeds the estimated faiff r value, an impairment loss is recognized equal to that excess. The loss recognized cannot exceed
the carrying amount of goodwill. The Company currently has only one reporting unit, thereforff e, all goodwill is allocated to
that one reporting unit.

The Company evaluates its finite-lived intangible assets forff impairment at least annually, or as events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverabla e. The Company records an impairment loss if impairment
triggers exist and the faiff r value of the asset is less than the asset’s carrying amount. The Company measures recoverabia lity
by comparing the carrying amount to the futurff e undiscounted cash floff ws that the intangible assets are expected to generate.
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If the carrying value of the intangible assets are not recoverabla e, the impairment recognized is measured as the amount by
which the carrying value exceeds its fair value. The Company’s intangible assets primarily include non-compete
agreements, customer relationships and contracts in progress that resulted froff m its business combinations. These intangible
assets are generally amortized on a straight-line basis using a usefulff life bff etween 1 and 7 years.

Segme ent Reporting

The Company follows U.S. GAAP for segment reporting, which requires reporting information on operating
segments in interim and annual finff ancial statements. Substantially all of the Company’s operations involve the delivery ofrr
commercial real estate services to its customers including real estate investment sales, financing and consulting and
advisory services. Management makes operating decisions, assesses performance and allocates resources based on an
ongoing review of these integrated operations, which constitute the Company’s only operating segment for finff ancial
reporting purposes.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update
("ASU") 2023-06, Disclosure Improvements: Codification Amendments in Response to the SEC’s Disclosure Update and
Simplification Initiative (“ASU 2023-06”). ASU 2023-06 was issued in response to the SEC’s finff al amendments in Release
No. 33-10532, Disclosure Update and Simplification that updau ted and simplified disclosure requirements that the SEC
believed were dupld icative, overlapping, or outdated, and to align the requirements in the Codification with the SEC’s
disclosure requirements. The effective date forff each amendment in ASU 2023-06 will be the date on which the SEC’s
removal of that related disclosure from Regulation S-X or Regulation S-K becomes effective, with early adoption
prohibited. If by June 30, 2027, the SEC has not removed the applicable requirement from Regulation S-X or Regulation S-
K, the pending content of the related amendment will be removed froff m the Codification and will not become effeff ctive forff
any entity. The Company does not expect the adoption of ASU 2023-06 to have a material impact on its consolidated
financial statements and related disclosures.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportablea
Segment Disclosures, to require the disclosure of segment expenses if they are (i) significant to the segment, (ii) regularly
provided to the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM”), and (iii) included in each reported measure of a segment’s
profitff or loss. Publu ic entities will be required to provide this disclosure quarterly. In addition, this ASU requires an annual
disclosure of the CODM’s title and a description of how the CODM uses the segment’s profit/loff ss measure to assess
segment performance and to allocate resources. Pursuant to this ASU, the notes to the Company's consolidated financial
statements will include incremental disclosures related to the Company's single reportabla e segment, including the
disclosures abouta the CODM’s review of the Company's consolidated net operating income — the profit/loss measure of its
single reportabla e segment — and a reconciliation of consolidated net operating income to its consolidated net income.
Compliance with these and certain other disclosure requirements will be required forff the Company's Annual Report on
Form 10-K forff the year 2024, and forff subsu equent quarterly and annual reports, with early adoption permitted. The
Company expects to adopt this ASU forff its 2024 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax
Disclosures ("ASU 2023-09"), to require disaggregated information abouta a reporting entity’s effeff ctive tax rate
reconciliation, as well as information on income taxes paid. The new requirements should be appla ied on a prospective basis
with an option to appla y them retrospectively. ASU 2023-09 will be effeff ctive forff annual periods beginning afteff r December
15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The Company is evaluating the impact this ASU will have on its consolidated
financial statements and related disclosures.
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3. Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consisted of the folff lowing (in thousands):

December 31,
2023 2022

Computer software and hardware equipment $ 49,851 $ 42,617
Furniture, fixtuff res and equipment 26,097 26,453
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (48,498) (41,426)

$ 27,450 $ 27,644

Depreciation expense for propeff rty and equipment was $8.9 million, $7.5 million and $7.3 million forff the years
ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company wrote-off aff pproxia mately $2.0 million and $1.2
million, respectively, of fully depreciated computer software and hardware equipment and furniture, fixtuff res and
equipment.

4. Operating Leases

The Company has operating leases forff all of its facilities and autos. The operating lease cost, included in selling,
general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations, consisted of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended
December 31,

2023 2022

Operating lease cost:
Lease cost (1) $ 30,269 $ 26,038
Variable lease cost (2) 5,283 5,586
Sublu ease income (976) (896)

$ 34,576 $ 30,728

(1) Includes charges related to consolidation of officff e space during the year ended December 31, 2023.
(2) Primarily relates to common area maintenance, property taxes, insurance, utilities and parking.

Maturities of lease liabilities by year consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2023

2024 $ 21,795
2025 21,085
2026 17,156
2027 11,971
2028 8,740
Thereafteff r 19,352
Total futurff e minimum lease payments 100,099
Less imputed interest (12,356)
Present value of operating lease liabilities $ 87,743
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Other information related to the operating leases consisted of the following:

December 31,
2023 2022

Weighted average remaining operating lease term 5.40 years 4.97 years
Weighted average discount rate 4.7 % 3.9 %

5. Investments in Marketable Debt Securities, Available-for-Sale

Amortized cost, allowance forff credit losses, gross unrealized gains (losses) in accumulated other comprehensive
(loss) income and faiff r value of marketable debt securities, available-for-sale, by type of security consisted of the following
(in thousands):

December 31, 2023

Amortized
Cost

Allowance
for Credit
Losses

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

Short-term investmet nts:tt
U.S. treasuries $ 91,951 $ — $ 60 $ (171) $ 91,840
Corporate debt 77,067 — 14 (40) 77,041

$ 169,018 $ — $ 74 $ (211) $ 168,881
Long-term investmet nts:tt
U.S. treasuries $ 10,097 $ — $ — $ (245) $ 9,852
U.S. government sponsored entities 1,069 — 29 (58) 1,040
Corporate debt 45,990 — 244 (1,669) 44,565
Asset-backed securities (“ABS”) and other 12,382 — 72 (452) 12,002

$ 69,538 $ — $ 345 $ (2,424) $ 67,459

December 31, 2022

Amortized
Cost

Allowance
for Credit
Losses

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

Short-term investmett nts:tt
U.S. treasuries $ 135,688 $ — $ 14 $ (1,153) $ 134,549
Corporate debt 118,135 — 1 (95) 118,041
ABS and other 859 — — (15) $ 844

$ 254,682 $ — $ 15 $ (1,263) $ 253,434
Long-term investments:
U.S. treasuries $ 21,434 $ — $ — $ (719) $ 20,715
U.S. government sponsored entities 602 — — (66) 536
Corporate debt 44,214 — 21 (2,877) 41,358
ABS and other 6,569 — — (583) 5,986

$ 72,819 $ — $ 21 $ (4,245) $ 68,595
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The Company’s investments in marketabla e debt securities, available-for-sale, that have been in a continuous
unrealized loss position, for which an allowance forff credit losses has not been recorded, by type of security consisted of the
following (in thousands):

December 31, 2023
Less than 12 months 12 months or greater Total

Fair
Value

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value(1)

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

U.S. treasuries $ 9,982 $ (1) $ 20,610 $ (415) $ 30,592 $ (416)
U.S. government sponsored entities — — 488 (58) 488 (58)
Corporate debt 45,251 (59) 30,423 (1,650) 75,674 (1,709)
ABS and other 1,701 (15) 5,988 (437) 7,689 (452)

$ 56,934 $ (75) $ 57,509 $ (2,560) $ 114,443 $ (2,635)

December 31, 2022
Less than 12 months 12 months or greater Total

Fair
Value

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value(1)

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

U.S. treasuries $ 73,055 $ (1,232) $ 66,144 $ (640) $ 139,199 $ (1,872)
U.S. government sponsored entities 447 (46) 87 (20) 534 (66)
Corporate debt 130,816 (1,909) 10,681 (1,063) 141,497 (2,972)
ABS and other 4,710 (314) 2,091 (284) 6,801 (598)

$ 209,028 $ (3,501) $ 79,003 $ (2,007) $ 288,031 $ (5,508)

(1) The faiff r value excludes accruerr d interest receivable.

Gross realized gains and losses froff m the sales of the Company’s marketabla e debt securities, availabla e-for-sale,
consisted of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Gross realized gains (1) $ — $ 113 $ 221
Gross realized losses (1) $ (190) $ (27) $ (2)

(1) Recorded in other income, net in the consolidated statements of operations. The cost basis of securities sold were
determined based on the specific idff entification method.

The Company invests its excess cash in a diversifieff d portfolff io of fixed and variable rate debt securities to meet
current and futurff e cash floff w needs. All investments are made in accordance with the Company’s approvea d investment
policy. As of December 31, 2023, the portfolff io had a weighted average credit rating of AA and a weighted term to
contractuatt l maturt ity of 1.9 years, with 176 securities in the portfolff io representing an unrealized aggregate loss of $2.6
million, or 1% of amortized cost, and a weighted average credit rating of AA-.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company performed an impairment analysis and determined an allowance forff credit
losses was not required. The Company determined that it did not have an intent to sell and it was not more likely than not
that the Company would be required to sell any security based on its current liquidity position, or to maintain compliance
with its investment policy, specifically as it relates to minimum credit ratings. The Company evaluated the securities with
an unrealized loss considering severity of loss, credit ratings, specific credit events durd ing the period since acquisition,
overall likelihood of default, market sector, potential impact from the current economic environment, including interest
rates, geopolitical unrest and a review of an issuer’s and securities’ liquidity and finff ancial strength, as needed. The

MARCUS &UU MILLICHII APHH , IPP NC.II
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

F-23



Company concluded that it would receive all scheduld ed interest and principal payments. The Company, thereforff e,
determined qualitatively that the unrealized loss was related to changes in interest rates and other market factors and
thereforff e no allowance forff credit losses was required.

Amortized cost and faiff r value of marketable debt securities, availabla e-for-sale, by contractuat l maturt ity consisted of
the folff lowing (in thousands, except weighted average data):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Amortized
Cost Fair Value

Amortized
Cost Fair Value

Due in one year or less $ 169,018 $ 168,881 $ 254,683 $ 253,434
Due after one year through five years 48,241 47,200 56,507 54,169
Due after five years through ten years 12,950 12,279 13,435 11,850
Due after ten years 8,347 7,980 2,876 2,576

$ 238,556 $ 236,340 $ 327,501 $ 322,029
Weighted average contractuatt l maturt ity 1.9 years 1.1 years

Actual maturities may diffeff r froff m contractuat l maturtt ities because certain issuers have the right to prepay certain
obligations with or without prepayment penalties.

6. Acquisitions, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill is recorded as part of the Company’s acquisitions and primarily arose froff m the acquired assembled
workforce and brokerage and finff ancing sales platforff ms. The Company expects all of the goodwill to be tax deducd tible, with
the tax-deducd tible amount of goodwill related to the contingent and deferred consideration to be determined once the cash
payments are made to settle any contingent and deferff red consideration. The goodwill resulting froff m acquisitions is
allocated to the Company’s one reporting unit.

Goodwill and intangible assets, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Book
Value

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Book
Value

Goodwill and intangible assets:
Goodwill $ 38,046 $ — $ 38,046 $ 37,914 $ — $ 37,914
Intangible assets (1) 31,022 (17,885) 13,137 32,287 (14,505) 17,782

$ 69,068 $ (17,885) $ 51,183 $ 70,201 $ (14,505) $ 55,696

(1) Weighted average remaining amortization period was 3.8 years and 4.5 years as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. Intangible assets principally include non-competes and customer relationships.

The Company recorded amortization expense forff intangible assets of $4.7 million for botff h of the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022 and $3.8 million forff the year ended December 31, 2021.
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The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill consisted of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022
Beginning balance $ 37,914 $ 34,071
Additions from acquisitions — 4,030
Impact of foreign currency translation 132 (187)
Ending balance $ 38,046 $ 37,914

Estimated amortization expense forff intangible assets by year for the next five years and thereafteff r consisted of the
following (in thousands):

Years Ended
December 31,

2024 $ 4,035
2025 3,880
2026 2,156
2027 1,856
2028 1,210
Thereafteff r —

$ 13,137

As of December 31, 2023, the Company considered the impact of economic conditions and evaluated its goodwill
and intangible assets forff impairment testing. The Company estimated the recoverabia lity of the intangible assets by
comparing the carrying amount of each asset to the future undiscounted cash floff ws that the Company expects the asset to
generate. The sum of the undiscounted expected future cash floff ws was greater than the carrying amount of the intangible
assets. The Company concluded that there was no impairment of goodwill or intangible assets during the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022.
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7. Selected Balance Sheet Data

Allowances on Advances and Loans

Allowance forff credit losses forff advances and loans as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $680,000 and $791,000,
respectively.

Other Assets

Other assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

Current
December 31,

Non-Current
December 31,

2023 2022 2023 2022

Security deposits $ — $ — $ 1,491 $ 1,625
Employee notes receivable 37 6 26 —
Securities, held-to-maturity(1) 9,500 — — 9,500
Loan performance fee receivable 1,725 766 7,885 4,261
Investments in convertible notes(2) — — 5,081 —
Other(3) 4,941 6,510 489 473

$ 16,203 $ 7,282 $ 14,972 $ 15,859

(1) Securities, held-to-maturity, are expected to mature on September 1, 2024 and accruerr interest based on the 1-year
treasury rrr ate.

(2) Convertible notes were purchased during the fourth quarter 2023 in connection with strategic alliances with
companies in the real estate sector. The convertible notes accrue interest at rates between 6% and 10%, are
convertible into equity for premiums and maturt e in a weighted average 1.7 years subject to extension at the option
of the holders.

(3) Other primarily includes customer trust accounts and prepaid lease costs.

Deferred Compensation and Commissions

Deferred compensation and commissions consisted of the following (in thousands):

Current
December 31,

Non-Current
December 31,

2023 2022 2023 2022

SARs liabia lity (1) $ 2,480 $ 2,323 $ 11,418 $ 13,137
Commissions payable to investment sales and
financing profesff sionals 52,689 72,247 28,198 45,156

Deferred compensation liabia lity (1) 201 493 8,155 6,168
Other 399 258 — —

$ 55,769 $ 75,321 $ 47,771 $ 64,461

(1) The SARs and deferred compensation liabia lities become subju ect to payout at the time the participant is no longer
considered a service provider. As a result of the retirement of certain participants, estimated amounts to be paid to
participants within the next twelve months have been classified as current.

SARs Liabii lityii

Prior to the IPO, certain employees of the Company were granted SARs under a stock-based compensation program
assumed by MMC. In connection with the IPO, the SARs agreements were revised, the MMC liabia lity of $20.0 million for
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the SARs was frozen as of March 31, 2013 and was transferff red to MMI through a capital distribution. The SARs liabia lity
will be settled with each participant in ten annual installments in January of each year upon retirement or termination fromff
service, or in full upon consummation of a change in control of the Company.

Under the revised agreements, MMI is required to accruerr interest on the outstanding balance beginning on January 1,
2014, at a rate based on the 10-year treasury nrr ote, plus 2%. The rate resets annually. The rates at January 1, 2023, 2022 and
2021 were 5.79%, 3.63% and 2.93%, respectively. MMI recorded interest expense related to this liabia lity of $761,000,
$542,000 and $488,000 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Estimated payouts within the next twelve months for participants that have separated from service have been
classified as current. The Company made payments of $2.3 million and $2.2 million durd ing the years ended December 31,
2023 and 2022, respectively, consisting of principal and accumulated interest.

Commissions PayablePP

Certain investment sales and financing professionals can earn additional commissions afteff r meeting certain annual
revenue thresholds. These commissions are recognized as cost of services in the period in which they are earned as they
relate to specific transactions closed. The Company may defer payment of certain commissions, at its election, for up tou
three years. Commissions that are not expected to be paid within twelve months are classified as long-term.

Defee rred ComCC pem nsatiott n Liabiliii tyii

A select group of management is eligible to participate in the Marcus & Millichap Da eferred Compensation Plan (the
“Deferred Compensation Plan”). The Deferred Compensation Plan is a non-qualified deferred compensation plan that is
intended to comply with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code and permits participants to defer compensation up to
the limits set forff th in the Deferff red Compensation Plan. Amounts are paid out generally when the participant is no longer a
service provider; however, an in-service payout election is availabla e to participants. Participants may elect to receive
payouts as a lump sum or quarterly over a two to fifteff en-year period. The Company elected to fundff the Deferred
Compensation Plan through Company-owned variabla e life iff nsurance policies. The Deferred Compensation Plan is managed
by a third-party institutt ional fundff manager, and the deferred compensation and investment earnings are held as a Company
asset in a rabbia trusrr t, which is recorded in assets held in rabbia trusrr t in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The
assets in the trust are restricted unless the Company becomes insolvent, in which case the trusrr t assets are subject to the
claims of the Company’s creditors. The Company may also, in its sole and absoluta e discretion, elect to withdraw at any
time a portion of the trusrr t assets by an amount by which the fair market value of the trusrr t assets exceeds 110% of the
aggregate deferred compensation liabia lity represented by the participants’ accounts. Estimated payouts within the next
twelve months for participants that have separated from service or elected an in-service payout have been classified as
current. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company made total payments to participants of $0.5
million and $1.1 million respectively.

The assets held in the rabbi trusrr t are carried at the cash surrender value of the variabla e life iff nsurance policies, which
represents its fair value. The net change in the carrying value of the assets held in the rabbi trusrr t and the net change in the
carrying value of the deferff red compensation liabia lity, each exclusive of additional contributions, distributions and trust
expenses, consisted of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Increase (decrease) in the carrying value of the assets held in the rabbi
trustrr (1) $ 1,526 $ (1,743) $ 1,445
(Increase) decrease in the net carrying value of the deferff red
compensation obligation (2) $ (1,439) $ 1,743 $ (1,104)

(1) Recorded in other income, net in the consolidated statements of operations.
(2) Recorded in selling, general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations.
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Other Liabilities

Other liabia lities consisted of the following (in thousands):

Current
December 31,

Non-Current
December 31,

2023 2022 2023 2022

Deferred consideration $ 1,178 $ 3,633 $ 393 $ 1,486
Contingent consideration 819 1,726 4,663 5,341
Dividends payable 802 612 1,680 1,603
Stock repurchase payable — 565 — —
Loan guarantee obligation 725 2,040 3,194 —
Other 395 1,357 760 184

$ 3,919 $ 9,933 $ 10,690 $ 8,614

8. Related-Party Transactions

Shared and Transition Services

Certain services are provided to the Company under a Transition Services Agreement (“TSA”) between MMC and
the Company. The TSA is intended to provide certain services until the Company acquires these services separately. In
addition, the Company charges MMC for certain shared licensing arrangements. Under the TSA, the Company earned net
charge-backs durd ing the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 of $77,000, $64,000, and $12,000, respectively.
These amounts are included in selling, general and administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations.

Brokerage and Financing Services with the Subsidiaries of MMC

MMC has wholly or majoa rity owned subsidiaries that buy and sell commercial real estate properties. The Company
performs certain brokerage and finff ancing services related to transactions of the subsidiaries of MMC. For the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, the Company earned real estate brokerage commissions and finff ancing fees of
$1.1 million, $3.6 million, and $2.4 million, respectively, from transactions with subsu idiaries of MMC related to these
services. The Company incurred cost of services of $0.7 million, $2.4 million, and $1.4 million respectively, related to this
revenue.

Operating Lease with MMC

The Company extended its operating lease with MMC for a single-story orr ffice building located in Palo Alto,
Californiff a, which expires in May 2032. The related operating lease cost was $1,200,000 for the year ended December 31,
2023, and $1,300,000 for each of the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Operating lease cost is
included in selling, general and administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The
related operating lease ROU asset, net and operating lease liabia lity as of December 31, 2023 was $7,800,000 and
$8,300,000, respectively and as of December 31, 2022 was $9,041,000 and $9,262,000, respectively.

Amounts due to MMC

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recorded a payable of $10,000 and $79,000 with MMC,
respectively. These amounts are included in accounts payable, in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Other

The Company makes advances to non-executive employees from time-to-time. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the
aggregate principal amount for employee notes receivable was $63,000 and $4,000, respectively, which is included in other
assets and in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. See Note 7 – "Selected Balance Sheet Data".
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As of December 31, 2023, George M. Marcus, the Company’s fouff nder and Chairman, beneficiallyff owned
approximately 39% of the Company’s issued and outstanding common stock, including shares owned by Phoenix
Investments Holdings, LLC and the Marcus Family Foundation II.

9. Fair Value Measurements

Assets and liabia lities carried at fair value on a recurring basis consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets:
Assets held in rabbia trusrr t $ 10,838 $ — $ 10,838 $ — $ 9,553 $ — $ 9,553 $ —
Convertible notes $ 5,081 $ — $ — $ 5,081 $ — $ — $ — $ —
Cash equivalents (1):
Commercial paper $ 27,998 $ — $ 27,998 $ — $ 41,324 $ — $ 41,324 $ —
Money market fundsff 68,364 68,364 — — 139,025 139,025 — —

$ 96,362 $ 68,364 $ 27,998 $ — $180,349 $139,025 $ 41,324 $ —

Marketable debt securities,
availabla e-for-sale:
Short-term investmet nts:tt
U.S. treasuries $ 91,840 $ 91,840 $ — $ — $134,549 $134,549 $ — $ —
Corporate debt 77,041 — 77,041 — 118,041 — 118,041 —
ABS and other — — — — 844 — 844 —

$168,881 $ 91,840 $ 77,041 $ — $253,434 $134,549 $118,885 $ —

Long-term investmet nts:tt
U.S. treasuries $ 9,852 $ 9,852 $ — $ — $ 20,715 $ 20,715 $ — $ —
U.S. government sponsored
entities 1,040 — 1,040 — 536 — 536 —
Corporate debt 44,565 — 44,565 — 41,358 — 41,358 —
ABS and other 12,002 — 12,002 — 5,986 — 5,986 —

$ 67,459 $ 9,852 $ 57,607 $ — $ 68,595 $ 20,715 $ 47,880 $ —

Liabilities:
Contingent consideration $ 5,482 $ — $ — $ 5,482 $ 7,067 $ — $ — $ 7,067
Deferred consideration $ 1,571 $ — $ 1,571 $ — $ 5,119 $ — $ 5,119 $ —
Deferred compensation liabia lity $ 8,356 $ 8,356 $ — $ — $ 6,661 $ 6,661 $ — $ —

(1) Included in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

There were no transfers in or out of Level 3 durd ing the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company considered current interest rates and the probability of
achieving EBITDA and other performance targets in its determination of faiff r value for the contingent consideration. The
Company is uncertain as to the extent of the volatility in the unobservable inputs in the foreseeable future. Deferff red
consideration in connection with acquisitions is carried at fair value and calculated using a discounted cash floff w estimate
with the only remaining condition on such payments being the passage of time.
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As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, contingent and deferred consideration had a maximum
undiscounted payment to be settled in cash or stock of $14.7 million and $21.3 million, respectively. Assuming the
achievement of the appla icable performance criteria and/or service and time requirements, the Company anticipates these
payments will be made over the next one to four-year period. Changes in faiff r value are included in selling, general and
administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

A reconciliation of contingent consideration measured at faiff r value on a recurring basis consisted of the following (in
thousands):

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

2023 2022

Beginning balance $ 7,067 $ 9,312
Change in fair value of contingent consideration(1) (16) (161)
Payments of contingent consideration (1,569) (2,084)
Ending balance $ 5,482 $ 7,067

(1) Includes immaterial impact of foreign currency translation.

Quantitative information abouta the valuation technique and significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation of
the Company’s Level 3 finff ancial liabia lities measured at fair value on a recurring basis consisted of the following (dollars in
thousands):

Fair Value at
December 31,

2023 Valuation Technique Unobservable inputs Range (Weighted Average)(1)

Contingent
consideration $ 5,482 Discounted cash flow Expected life of cash flows 0.75-3.83 years (1.42 years)

Discount rate 5.3%-6.4% (6.1%)
Probability of achievement 11.1%-100.0% (96.5%)

Fair Value at
December 31,

2022 Valuation Technique Unobservable inputs Range (Weighted Average)(1)

Contingent
consideration $ 7,067 Discounted cash flow Expected life of cash flows 0.4-4.8 years (2.7 years)

Discount rate 6.0%-7.0% (6.5)%
Probability of achievement 0.0%-100.0% (95.4)%

(1) Unobservable inputs were weighted by the relative fair value of the instruments.

The faiff r value of the convertible notes considered (i) the contractuatt l maturt ity which may be extended at the option of
the holders, (ii) a weighted average premium at settlement of 112% upon a subsequent financing, equity financing or a
change in control, and (iii) a weighted average discount rate of 15.3%. During the three months ended December 31, 2023,
the faiff r value of the convertible notes increased by approximately $81,000 due to the reducd tion in the estimated time to the
settlement from a weighed average of 1.9 years to 1.7 years.

Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements

In accordance with U.S. GAAP, froff m time to time, the Company measures certain assets at fair value on a
nonrecurring basis. The Company reviews the carrying value of intangibles, goodwill and other assets for indications of
impairment at least annually. When indications of potential impairment are identified, the Company may be required to
determine the fair value of those assets and record an adjud stment for the carrying amount in excess of the fair value
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determined. Any fair value determination would be based on valuation approaa ches, which are appropra iate under the
circumstances and utilize Level 2 and Level 3 measurements as required.

10. Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock

As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, there were 38,412,484 and 39,255,838 shares of common stock,
$0.0001 par value, issued and outstanding, which included unvested restricted stock awards (“RSAs”) issued to non-
employee directors, respectively. See Note 14 – “(Loss) Earnings per Share” forff additional information.

On February 9, 2023, the Board of Directors declared a semi-annual regular dividend of $0.25 per share, with a
payment date of April 6, 2023, to stockholders of record at the close of business on March 14, 2023. On August 1, 2023,
the Board of Directors declared the second semi-annual regular dividend of $0.25 per share, with a payment date of
October 6, 2023, to stockholders of record at the close of business on September 15, 2023. The total dividends declared by
the Company during the year ended December 31, 2023 were $20.4 million.

As of December 31, 2023, the dividend payable related to unvested stock awards remaining to be paid upon vesting
of stock awards was $2.5 million The dividend payable is recorded in other liabia lities in the consolidated balance sheets.
See Note 7 – “Selected Balance Sheet Data.”

Preferred Stock

The Company has 25,000,000 authorized shares of preferred stock with a par value $0.0001 per share. At December
31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, there were no preferred shares issued or outstanding.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income

Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income are included as a component of other
income, net or selling, general and administrative expense, as applicable, in the consolidated statements of operations. The
reclassifications were determined on a specific identificff ation basis.

The Company has not provided forff U.S. taxes on unremitted earnings of its foreign subsidiary as it is operating at a
loss and has no earnings and profits to remit. As a result, deferred taxes were not provided related to the cumulative foreff ign
currency translation adjustments.

Repurchases of Common Stock

On August 2, 2022, the Company's Board of Directors authorized a common stock repurchase program of up to $70
million. On May 2, 2023, the Company's Board of Directors authorized an additional $70 million to repurchase common
stock under its common stock repurchase program. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company repurchased
and retired 1,260,251 shares of common stock for $38.9 million, at an average cost of $30.85 per share. During the year
ended December 31, 2022, the Company repurchased and retired 864,271 shares of common stock for $29.6 million, at an
average cost of $34.27 per share. As of December 31, 2023, $71.5 million remained authorized for repurchases under the
common stock repurchase program.

11. Stock-Based Compensation Plans

2013 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan

The Company’s Board of Directors adopted the 2013 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “2013 Plan”) on October 7,
2013. In February 2017, the Board of Directors amended and restated the 2013 Plan, which was approvea d by the
Company’s stockholders in May 2017. On October 6, 2023, the Board of Directors amended the 2013 Plan, subject to and
contingent upon the approvaa l of stockholders of the Company at the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, to eliminate the
term of the 2013 Plan such that the 2013 Plan shall continue in effeff ct until it is terminated by the Compensation
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Committee. The Compensation Committee has approved 17,073 shares of restricted stock units subju ect to the approvaa l of
the revised 2013 Plan by the stockholders.

Grants are made froff m time to time by the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors at its
discretion, subju ect to certain restrictions as to the number and value of shares that may be granted to any individual. In
addition, non-employee directors receive annual grants under a director compensation policy. The Compensation
Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors has the option to grant dividend equivalents to unvested grants. Any
dividend equivalents granted to unvested awards are paid to the participant at the time the related grants vest. As of
December 31, 2023, there were 3,221,417 shares availabla e forff future grants under the 2013 Plan.

Awards Gdd raGG ntedtt and SetSS tltt edll

Under the 2013 Plan, the Company has issued RSAs to non-employee directors and restricted stock units (“RSUs”) to
employees and independent contractors. RSAs vest over a one-year period froff m the date of grant, subju ect to service
requirements. RSUs generally vest in equal annual installments over a five-year period froff m the date of grant or earlier as
approved by the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors. Dividend equivalents granted for
unvested stock awards are paid at the time the stock awards vest. Any unvested awards and dividend equivalents are
canceled upon termination as a service provider. As of December 31, 2023, there were no issued or outstanding options,
SARs, performance units or performance share awards under the 2013 Plan.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, 465,480 shares of RSUs and RSAs vested, with 138,451 shares of
common stock withheld to pay appla icable required employee statutory withholding taxes based on the market value of the
shares on the vesting date. The shares withheld for taxes were returned to the share reserve and are availabla e forff futuret
issuance in accordance with provisions of the 2013 Plan. Unvested RSUs will be settled through the issuance of new shares
of common stock.

Outstandindd g Awards

Activity under the 2013 Plan consisted of the following (dollars in thousands, except weighted average per share
data):

Shares

Weighted-
Average Grant
Date Fair Value
Per Share

Nonvested shares at December 31, 2020 ⁽¹⁾ 918,379 $ 33.73
Granted 381,215 $ 39.03
Vested (277,253) $ 31.89
Forfeited/canceled (41,405) $ 33.47

Nonvested shares at December 31, 2021 ⁽¹⁾ 980,936 $ 36.32
Granted 1,094,507 $ 45.41
Vested (306,276) $ 35.49
Forfeited/canceled (27,706) $ 39.11

Nonvested shares at December 31, 2022⁽¹⁾ 1,741,461 $ 42.14
Granted 734,388 $ 35.20
Vested (465,480) $ 40.87
Forfeited/canceled (10,624) $ 40.96

Nonvested shares at December 31, 2023⁽¹⁾ 1,999,745 $ 39.90
( , )
, ,

(1) Nonvested RSUs will be settled through the issuance of new shares of common stock.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had unrecognized stock-based compensation relating to RSUs and RSAs of
approximately $64.1 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.32 years.
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The aggregate faiff r value of RSUs and RSAs that vested were $15.1 million, $13.4 million and $10.2 million forff the
years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

The faiff r value of fully vested DSUs that settled was $13.4 million and $2.4 million forff the years ended December 31,
2022 and 2021, respectively. As of December 31, 2022, all DSUs were settled. See “SARs and DSUs” section below and
Note 14 – “(Loss) Earnings per Share” forff additional inforff mation.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In 2013, the Company adopted the 2013 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). The ESPP is intended to qualify
under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code and provides forff consecutive, non-overlapping six-month offering periods.
The offering periods generally start on the first trading day on or after May 15 and November 15 of each year. Qualifying
employees may purchase shares of the Company stock at a 10% discount based on the lower of the market price at the
beginning or end of the offeriff ng period, subju ect to Internal Revenue Service limitations. The Company determined that the
ESPP was a compensatory plan and is required to expense the fair value of the awards over each six-month offering period.

The ESPP initially had 366,667 shares of common stock reserved, and 111,094 shares of common stock remain
availabla e forff issuance as of December 31, 2023. The ESPP provided forff annual increases in the number of shares availablea
for issuance under the ESPP, equal to the lesser of (i) 366,667 shares, (ii) 1% of the outstanding shares on such date, or (iii)
an amount determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. Pursuant to the provisions of the ESPP,
the Board of Directors determined to not provide for any annual increases to date. As of December 31, 2023, total
unrecognized compensation cost related to the ESPP was $79,000 and is expected to be recognized over a weighted
average period of 0.37 years.

On October 6, 2023, the Board of Directors amended the ESPP to (i) eliminate the evergreen provision set forff th in the
ESPP such that the maximum number of shares of common stock of the Company made availabla e forff sale under the ESPP
shall not automatically increase on the first day of each fisff cal year of the Company and (ii) subju ect to and contingent upon
the approvaa l of the stockholders of the Company at the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, eliminate the term of the
ESPP such that the ESPP shall continue in effeff ct until the ESPP is terminated by the Board of Directors or the
Compensation Committee.

SARs and DSUs

Prior to the IPO, certain employees were granted SARs. As of March 31, 2013, the outstanding SARs were frozen at
the liabia lity amount, and will be paid out to each participant in installments uponu retirement or departure under the terms of
the revised SARs agreements. To replace beneficial ownership in the SARs, the difference between the book value liabia lity
and the fair value of the awards was granted to plan participants in the forff m of DSUs, which were fulff ly vested upon receipt
and were settled in actuatt l stock at a rate of 20% per year if the participant remains employed by the Company durd ing that
period (otherwise all unsettled shares of stock uponu termination froff m service will be settled fivff e years froff m the termination
date, unless otherwise agreed to by the Company). In the event of death or termination of service afteff r reaching the age of
67, 100% of the DSUs were to be settled. As of December 31, 2022, all DSUs were settled.

Summary of Stock-Based Compensation

Components of stock-based compensation are included in selling, general and administrative expense in the
consolidated statements of operations and consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2023 2022 2021

ESPP $ 146 $ 150 $ 142
RSUs and RSAs 24,000 17,162 10,219

$ 24,146 $ 17,312 $ 10,361
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12. Income Taxes

The components of income froff m continuing operations before (benefit)ff provision for income taxes consisted of the
following (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

United States $ (39,708) $ 143,815 $ 193,147
Foreign (693) (1,786) 156

$ (40,401) $ 142,029 $ 193,303

The (benefit) provision for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Federal:
Current $ (220) $ 34,968 $ 48,785
Deferred (5,342) (4,973) (9,600)

(5,562) 29,995 39,185
State:

Current 277 8,857 13,903
Deferred (1,087) (1,100) (2,243)

(810) 7,757 11,660
Foreign:

Current — — —
Deferred 6 52 (12)

6 52 (12)
$ (6,366) $ 37,804 $ 50,833
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Significant components of the Company’s deferff red tax assets, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2023 2022

Defee rred TaxTT Assets:
Accruerr d expenses and bonuses $ 3,201 $ 6,406
Advances and loans and other reserves 12,612 9,655
Deferred compensation and commissions 17,764 21,018
Operating lease ROU assets, net 23,359 20,798
Stock-based compensation 7,106 7,273
Net operating and capital loss carryforwards 13,664 3,835
Other comprehensive income 580 1,676
Amortizable intangibles and other 2,687 2,221
Deferred tax assets before valuation allowance 80,973 72,882
Valuation allowance (5,296) (4,935)

Deferred Tax Assets 75,677 67,947
Defee rred TaxTT Liabilities:

Property and equipment (4,366) (5,715)
Operating lease liabia lities (20,781) (18,523)
Prepaid expenses (841) (1,180)
State taxes (1,385) (472)
Goodwill and other (1,374) (736)

Deferred Tax Liabilities (28,747) (26,626)
Deferred Tax Assets, Net $ 46,930 $ 41,321

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had $7.8 million of net operating loss carryforwards, which are available to
reduce futurff e federalff income taxes, and have no expiration date. Under the Coronavirus Aid Relief and Economic Security
Act (CARES Act) and Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (2017 Tax Act), federal NOLs incurred after December 31,2017 carried
forward indefinitely and can offsff et up to 80% of future taxable income forff tax years after December 31, 2020. State NOLs
of $1.7 million is also availabla e to reducd e futurff e state income taxes and will expire between 2034 and 2044. As of
December 31, 2023, and 2022, the Company had Canadian net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $4.2 million
and $3.8 million, respectively, principally all of which will begin to expire in 2035.

A valuation allowance is required when it is more-likely-than not that all or a portion of a deferred tax asset will not
be realized. Realization of a deferred tax asset is dependent upon taxable income in prior carryback years as appropra iate,
depending on jurisdiction, estimates of futurff e taxable income, tax planning strategies and reversals of existing taxable
temporary drr iffereff nces. The Company determined that as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, $5.3 million and $4.9 million,
respectively, of the deferff red tax assets related to Canadian losses do not satisfy the recognition criteria. The Company has
thereforff e recorded a valuation allowance forff this amount. The valuation allowance for deff ferred tax assets was increased by
$361,000, $337,000 and $179,000 during 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The increases are primarily related to the
Company’s Canadian operations.
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The (benefit) provision for income taxes differs from the amount computed by applying the U.S. federalff statutortt y rrr ate
to income before provision for income taxes and consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Amount Rate Amount Rate Amount Rate

Income tax (benefit) expense at the federal statutory rate $ (8,484) 21.0 % $29,826 21.0 % $40,594 21.0 %
State income tax (benefitff ) expense, net of federff al benefit (602) 1.5 % 6,127 4.3 % 9,210 4.8 %
Shortfalff l (windfalff l) tax benefitff s, net related to stock-based
compensation 1,260 (3.1)% (2,714) (1.9)% (555) (0.3)%

Change in valuation allowance 388 (0.9)% 337 0.2 % 179 0.1 %
Permanent and other items (1) 1,072 (2.7)% 4,228 3.0 % 1,405 0.7 %

$ (6,366) 15.8 % $37,804 26.6 % $50,833 26.3 %

(1) Permanent items relate principally to compensation charges, qualified transportation friff nge benefits, meals and
entertainment, and other items.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefitsff consisted of the following (in
thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Beginning balance $ — $ 304 $ 55
Gross increases/ (decreases) as a result of positions taken:

Prior periods — (304) 1
Current period — — 304

Expiration of appla icable statuttt es of limitation — — (56)
Ending balance $ — $ — $ 304

There were no unrecognized tax benefits and no amounts accrued for interest and penalties as of December 31,
2023, and 2022.

The Company is subju ect to tax in various jurisdictions and, as a matter of ordinary crr ourse, the Company may be
subju ect to income tax examinations by the federff al, state and forff eign taxing authorities forff the tax years 2019 to 2023. The
Company is currently under income tax examination by the state of Illinois, and the examination by the state of New York
was closed without any assessment.

The Company has not provided forff U.S. taxes on unremitted earnings of its foreign subsidiary as this subsu idiary is
operating at a loss and has no earnings and profits to remit. As a result, deferred taxes were not provided related to the
cumulative translation adjustments.

13. Retirement Plans

The Company has a defined contribution plan (the “Marcus & Millichap, Inc. 401(k) Plan”) under Section 401(k) of
the Internal Revenue Code for all eligible employees who have completed one month of service. The contribution plan is
subju ect to the provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”), as amended. Participants
may contribute up to 1u 00% of their annual eligible compensation, subju ect to Internal Revenue Service limitations and
ERISA. The Company matches employees' contributions each pay period, dollar for dolff lar, up to an annual maximum of
$4,000 ("Company Match"). For the 2023 Plan year, the discretionary Company Match was suspended durd ing the period of
April 1, 2023 through December 31, 2023. Employees become vested in Company Match contributions 33% upon
completion of one year of service, 66% upon completion of two years of service and 100% upon completion of three years
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of service. Company Match contributions aggregated $1.1 million, $2.0 million and $1.2 million forff the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively, which is included in selling, general and administrative expense in the
consolidated statements of operations.

14. (Loss) Earnings per Share

Basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively
consisted of the following (in thousands, except per share data):

ars Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Numerator (Basic and Diluted):
Net (loss) income $ (34,035) $ 104,225 $ 142,470

Change in value forff stock settled consideration(1) 65 (37) 27
Adjud sted net (loss) income $ (33,970) $ 104,188 $ 142,497

Denominator:
Basic
Weighted average common shares issued and outstanding 39,57539,75138,674

Deduct: Unvested RSAs (2) (15) (12) (14)
Add: Fully vested DSUs (3) 1— 54 327

Weighted average common shares outstanding 38,659 39,893 39,888

Basic (loss) earnings per common share $ (0.88) $ 2.61 $ 3.57
Diluted
Weighted average common shares outstanding from above 38,659 39,893 39,888

Add: Dilutive effeff ct of RSUs, RSAs & ESPP(4) — 207 206
Add: Contingently issuable shares(1)(4) — 8 96 3

Weighted average common shares outstanding 38,659 40,186 40,187
Diluted (loss) earnings per common share $ (0.88) $ 2.59 $ 3.55
Antidilutive shares excluded froff m diluted earnings per common share(5) 1,593 1,084 366

(1) Relates to contingently issuable stock settled consideration.
(2) RSAs were issued and outstanding to the non-employee directors and have a one-year vesting term subju ect to service

requirements. See Note 11 – “Stock-Based Compensation Plans” forff additional information.
(3) Shares are included in weighted average common shares outstanding as the shares are fully vested but have not yet

been delivered. See Note 11 – “Stock-Based Compensation Plans” forff additional information.
(4) Shares related to the Company's RSUs, RSAs, ESPP, and contingently issuable shares were excluded froff m the

weighted average common shares outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2023 because inclusion of such shares
would be antidilutive in a period of loss.

(5) Primarily pertaining to RSU grants to the Company’s employees and independent contractors.

15. Commitments and Contingencies

Credit Agreement

On June 18, 2014, the Company entered into a credit agreement (the "Credit Agreement") with Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association (the “Bank”). On May 31, 2022, the Company executed an amended and restated Credit Agreement
to extend the maturt ity date of the Credit Agreement to August 1, 2022, and which included substantially the same terms
and conditions as the original credit faciff lity. On July 28, 2022, the Company entered into the Second Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement to adjust the maturity date of the Credit Agreement to June 1, 2025, with principally the same
terms and conditions as the extension signed in May 2022. On September 25, 2023, the Company executed the First
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Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement which provides forff a $10 million line of credit and a
maturity date of June 1, 2024 (the “Credit Facility”).

The Company may borrow, repay and reborrow amounts under the Credit Facility until its maturity date, at which
time all amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility must be repaid in fulff l. Borrowings under the Credit Facility are
availabla e for geneff ral corporate purposes and working capia tal. The Credit Facility includes a $3.0 million sublimit for the
issuance of standby letters of credit of which $1.05 million was utilized at December 31, 2023. Borrowings under the
Credit Facility will bear interest at the Daily Simple SOFR rate plus a spread of 175 basis points. In connection with the
amendments to the Credit Agreement, the Company paid bank fees and other expenses, which are being amortized over the
remaining term of the Credit Agreement. The Company pays a commitment fee of up to 0u .5% per annum, payable
quarterly, based on the amount of unutilized commitments under the Credit Facility. The amortization and commitment
fees are included in interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and were $128,000 and
$167,000 during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. As of December 31, 2023, there were no
amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreement.

The Credit Facility contains customary crr ovenants, including financial covenants, financial reporting requirements and
events of default. Financial covenants require the Company, on a combined basis with its guarantors, to maintain total
liquidity including cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities, held for sale of $100 million and an average daily
cash balance of $35 million with the Bank, on a combined basis with all the guarantors, calculated as of the end of the
month. The Credit Facility is secured by substantially all assets of the Company, including pledges of 100% of the stock or
other equity interest of each subsu idiary except forff the capital stock of a controlled forff eign corporation (as defined in the
Internal Revenue Code), in which case no such pledge is required. As of December 31, 2023, the Company was in
compliance with all financial and non-financial covenants and has not experienced any limitation in its operations as a
result of the covenants. Our abia lity to borrow under our Credit Facility is limited by our ability to comply with its
covenants or obtain necessary waivers.

Strategic Alliance

The Company, in connection with the Strategic Alliance with MTRCC, has agreed to provide loan opportunities that
may be fundeff d through MTRCC’s DUS Agreement with Fannie Mae. MTRCC's agreement with Fannie Mae requires
MTRCC to guarantee a portion of each funded loan. On a loan-by-loan basis, the Company, at its option, can indemnify aff
portion of MTRCC’s guarantee obligation of loan opportunities presented to and closed by MTRCC. As of December 31,
2023, the Company has agreed to a maximum aggregate guarantee obligation of $152.6 million relating to loans with an
unpaid balance of $915.4 million. The Company would be liabla e forff its maximum aggregate guarantee obligation only if all
of the loans for which it is providing a guarantee to MTRCC were to default and all of the collateral underlying these loans
were determined to be without value at the time of settlement. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the
Company has recorded an allowance forff loss-sharing obligations of $851,000 and $275,000, respectively, and pledged
$283,000 and $16,000, respectively, in a restricted bank account in supporu t of the guarantee obligation.

Other

In connection with certain agreements with investment sales and financing professionals, the Company may agree to
advance amounts to such professionals upon reaching certain time and performance goals. Such commitments as of
December 31, 2023 aggregated $15.9 million, of which $4.6 million has been paid subsu equent to year end.

16. Subsequent Events

On February 8, 2024, the Board of Directors declared a semi-annual regular dividend of $0.25 per share, or
$10.1 million, payable on April 5, 2024, to stockholders of record at the close of business on March 12, 2024.
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